

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

1-24-2024

Moderating Effect of Music Activity on the Relationship Between Religious Struggles and Social Anxiety

Benjamin Joseph Phelps Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Social Psychology Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Psychology and Community Services

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

Benjamin Phelps

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Hedy Dexter, Committee Chairperson, Psychology Faculty Dr. Anthony Perry, Committee Member, Psychology Faculty

> Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

> > Walden University 2023

Abstract

Moderating Effect of Music Activity on the Relationship Between Religious Struggles

and Social Anxiety

by

Benjamin Phelps

MS, Capella University, 2018

BS, Liberty University, 2015

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Social Psychology

Walden University

November 2023

Abstract

Adults living in the U.S. participate in religious groups to find a sense of community, purpose, and structure, yet over time, struggles involving perceived indoctrination, loss of personal freedom and/or self-identity, mind-control, and religious/spiritual abuse can cause individuals to experience fear of judgment, negative self-beliefs, and social anxiety. Social anxiety is the sixth leading cause of disability in the U.S. and is associated with unemployment, suicidal ideation, learning difficulties, truancy, behavioral difficulties, and financial burdens. Music activity used by individuals to help regulate their emotions may potentially mitigate social anxiety. The purpose of this quantitative study was to examine whether music activity moderated the relationship between religious struggles and social anxiety. The emotion regulation theory was used to describe how individuals use music to attempt to control their emotions and served as the theoretical framework for this study. A nonexperimental correlational design with online surveys was administered via SurveyMonkey to English-speaking adults between 25 and 65 living in the U.S. A standard multiple regression with moderation analysis did not find support for the predicted moderation effect. While results indicated that music activity for emotion regulation significantly predicted social anxiety, it was not in the predicted direction. Although results from this study did not find support for hypotheses, there is sufficient evidence to warrant the potential for music activity to mitigate symptoms of social anxiety (e.g., stress, depression). Musical activity is not only an outlet for physical energy, but can facilitate emotional regulation, giving those who listen and/or play something to look forward to and upon which they can focus mental energy.

Moderating Effect of Music Activity on the Relationship Between Religious Struggles

and Social Anxiety

by

Benjamin Phelps

MS, Capella University, 2018

BS, Liberty University, 2015

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Social Psychology

Walden University

November 2023

Acknowledgments

I would like to thank my dissertation chairperson, Dr. Hedy Red Dexter. You inspire me to grow as a student and an educator. Thank you for your patience and supervision of this process. I am grateful for our journey together, and I have benefited from knowing you. I would also like to thank my methodologist Dr. Anthony Perry. You pushed me to learn and understand the language of statistics. You are also an inspiring songwriter. You both are among my most admired heroes, and I thank you for your role in assisting me through this rite of passage. I hope to continue our research together at some point soon.

List of Tablesiv
List of Figures
Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study
Background
Problem Statement
Purpose of the Study10
Research Questions and Hypotheses10
Theoretical Framework1
Nature of the Study
Definitions12
Assumptions14
Scope and Delimitations14
Limitations1
Significance10
Summary10
Chapter 2: Literature Review18
Literature Search Strategy22
Theoretical Foundation22
Emotion Regulation Theory22
How the Emotion Regulation Theory Relates to the Study
Literature Review Related to Key Variables2

Table of Contents

Religious Struggles	29
Religious Abuse	30
Physical Abuse	32
Social Anxiety Disorder	33
Religious Struggles and Social Anxiety	36
Music Activity	37
Music Activity and Social Anxiety	41
Conclusion	43
Chapter 3: Research Method	45
Research Design and Rationale	45
Methodology	45
Population	45
Sampling and Sampling Procedures	46
Procedures for Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection	47
Instrumentation and Operationalization of Constructs	48
Demographic Questionnaire	48
SAQ	48
MUSE Questionnaire	51
RSS-14	54
Data Analysis Plan	56
Research Questions and Hypotheses	57
Threats to Validity	57

Ethical Procedures	58
Summary	59
Chapter 4: Results	60
Research Questions and Hypotheses	60
Data Collection	61
Results	64
Descriptive Statistics	64
Exploratory Data Analysis	66
Assumption Testing for Multiple Regression	67
Multiple Regression Analysis	69
Summary	72
Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations	73
Interpretation of the Findings	74
Religious Struggles and Social Anxiety	74
Music Activity and Social Anxiety	74
Music Activity as a Moderator	76
Limitations of the Study	77
Recommendations	79
Implications for Social Change	80
Theory of Emotion Regulation	81
Conclusion	82
References	83

Appendix A: Demographic Questionnaire	117
Appendix B: RSS-14	118
Appendix C: MUSE Questionnaire	120
Appendix D: SAQ	122
Appendix E: Histograms and Q-Q Plots	124
Appendix F: P-P Plot and Scatter Plots	131

List of Tables

Table 1. General Demographics of Study Sample	62
Table 2. Mean, Standard Deviation and Correlations for Study Variables	64
Table 3. Pearson r Correlations Between Study Variables	66
Table 4. Normality Testing for Study Variables	67
Table 5. Collinearity Diagnostics for Predictor Variables	68
Table 6. Cronbach's Alpha Coefficients for Study Instruments	71
Table 7. ANOVA Results for Model 1	71
Table 8. Coefficients: Prediction of Social Anxiety	

List of Figures

Figure E1. Histogram for SAQ124
Figure E2. Normal Q-Q for SAQ124
Figure E3. Histogram for Religious Struggles Scores125
Figure E4. Normal Q-Q plot for Religious Struggles125
Figure E5. Histogram for Muse.a (playing)126
Figure E6. Normal Histogram for Muse.a (playing)126
Figure E7. Histogram for Muse.b (cognitive/emotion regulation)127
Figure E8. Normal Q-Q plot for Muse.b (cognitive/emotion regulation)127
Figure E9. Histogram for Muse.c (engaged production)128
Figure E10. Normal Q-Q plot for Muse.c (engaged production)128
Figure E11. Histogram for Muse.d (social connection)129
Figure E12. Normal Q-Q Plot for Muse.d (social connection)129
Figure E13. Histogram for the Regression Standardized Residual129

Figure F1. Normal P-P Plot for the Deper	ndent Variable (SAQ)1	31
Figure F2. Scatterplot for the Dependent	Variable (SAQ)1	31

Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

The increase in social anxiety among adults living in the United States (U.S.) is a significant concern (Leichsenring & Leweke, 2017). Social anxiety is the sixth leading cause of disability, and is associated with unemployment, poor quality of life, and suicidal ideation, creating psychological and financial burdens on individuals and society (Yuan et al., 2021). Social anxiety is also associated with behavioral difficulties, school dissatisfaction, social exclusion, truancy, learning difficulties, and decreased educational aspirations (Jystad et al., 2021). The prevalence of social anxiety in U.S. adults is estimated to be 7.1%, while 12.1% of adults experience social anxiety disorder at some time in their lives, and it is the third most common mental disorder behind substance use disorder and depression and is the most common anxiety disorder (Rose & Tadi, 2021). While it is estimated that 33.7% of the adult population in the U.S. are affected by an anxiety disorder during their lifetime (Bandelow & Michaelis, 2022), and 13% of adults currently suffer from social anxiety to the point of requiring medical attention (Leichsenring & Leweke, 2017). Social anxiety rates increased from 5.12% in 2008 to 6.68% in 2018 among adults in the U.S. and 15% in young adults between 18 and 25 (Goodwin et al., 2020). The upward trend of social anxiety rates and its impact on wellbeing is a significant social problem (Leichsenring & Leweke, 2017).

Religious trauma or religious struggles may be a contributing factor in the increase in social anxiety (McBeath & Greenlees, 2016). Many people involved in religious practice experience varying degrees of general fear and are led to adopt conditional beliefs (i.e., the idea that if one does not follow religious doctrine, they will

be punished); such beliefs have been linked to negative self-beliefs and social anxiety (Fennell, 1997; Heeran et al., 2020). For many, religion provides a sense of community, purpose, and structure and routine to people's lives, yet over time and in varying sects, congregants may experience struggles in their religion such as perceived loss of personal freedom and/or self-identity due to mind control via religious indoctrination or religious abuse (Lewis & Bromley, 1987). These religious struggles often result in prolonged social anxiety, which is an issue of increasing social concern (Wentling & Behrens, 2018).

While traditional treatment has involved psychotherapy, antidepressants, and cognitive behavioral therapy (Bruffaerts et al., 2022), there is potential benefit of alternative therapeutic options that are holistic as well as cost-effective, such as playing music. The act of creating music, or music activity has been found to improve mental health (Rohilla et al., 2018). Whether singing or playing an instrument, making music has been significantly correlated with improved quality of social exchanges among children recovering from trauma (Wentling & Behrens, 2018), as well as increased social functioning and creative exploration (Landis-Shack et al., 2017), decreased anxiety (Le Danseur et al., 2019), decreased symptoms of PTSD (Landis-Shack et al., 2017), and increased cognitive and socioemotional development among abused children (Wentling & Behrens, 2018). Music has also been shown to increase resilience by helping victims of trauma reestablish a sense of normalcy in their lives following a traumatic experience. This is a direct predictor of posttraumatic healing and growth or positive change after suffering from a traumatic event (Landis-Shack et al., 2017). Making music is linked to

reduced cortisol (stress) levels and increased dopamine levels, along with a sense of connectedness to one's community (Landis-Shack et al., 2017).

Addressing the moderating effect of musical activity on the relationship between religious struggles and social anxiety may lead to positive social change by providing insights regarding how engaging with music may help to mitigate social anxiety symptoms, which can then be used by mental health providers to educate people about its ameliorative potential.

Chapter 1 includes a brief overview of the literature and the gap in research that justifies the need for the proposed study. The research problem, research questions and hypotheses, operational definitions of variables, and nature of the study are also addressed. A brief discussion of the theoretical framework is presented along with assumptions, scope, limitations, and significance of the study.

Background

Social anxiety is the result of the tendency to engage in evaluating social comparisons and social hierarchies (Parsons et al., 2021). In addition to a heightened sense of awareness about one's social status or standing, Henricks et al. (2021) discovered preoccupation with likeability and popularity also affect individuals with social anxiety. Social anxiety is largely the result of self-judgments compared to internalized social standards that are idealized and mostly unattainable (Goodman et al., 2021).

One factor that predicts social anxiety is religious trauma or religious struggles which can cause traumatic effects during or even after involvement in a particular religious practice (Cashwell & Swindle, 2018; Oakley & Kinmond, 2014). Organized religion is a type of social structure that impacts people's emotional and mental development and therefore these religious struggles can predict traumatic effects (Schnabel, 2018).

The country is predominantly religious with 83% of all adults living in the U.S. claiming a religious affiliation (Brink & Bekhuis, 2023). Religious struggles are also a common experience to active members. According to Oakley and Kimmond (2014), based on a sample of 502 adults living in the U.S., 74% between 18 and 70 reported having had a damaging experience in their lives: 17% felt they were made to feel shame or blame in their current church, 84% felt manipulated by their current church leadership, 71% felt unable to ask questions, 49% of ex-members felt they were made to feel shame or blame, 84% at their previous church and 45% felt that scripture was used to control behavior by their current church and previous church leadership, respectively (Oakley & Kinmond, 2014). Some of these religious struggles take the form of abuse as religious or spiritual leaders take advantage of their influence over others by using tactics such as information control, spiritual bullying, spiritual neglect, punishment, and relational control (Kessler & Kessler, 2021). Religious leaders have thus often been described as spiritual bullies who use intimidation, rejection, and manipulation to gain and maintain control over others (Oakley & Kinmond, 2014).

Ex-members of religion confirm the immense weight of religious struggles as they talk of the elusive nature of many religious tactics such as fear-based doctrines or use of guilt tactics to pressure congregants to give, serve, or behave in a certain way; some believe religion to be a form of mind control, leading them to fear potential judgments, rejection, or even condemnation should they leave the religion, although for many these religious struggles are reason enough to leave the religion (Cashwell & Swindle, 2018). Perceived indoctrination, loss of self, misuse of power, religious abuse, and mind control have also been reported as reasons for leaving churches or religious practice (Cashwell & Swindle, 2018, 2018, 2016; McBeath & Greenlees; Nobakht & Yngvar-Dale, 2018).

Even after leaving religion individuals still experience lingering self-doubt, shame, and a sense of spiritual harm, with symptoms akin to PTSD (e.g., memory impairment, self-shame, social anxiety, and feelings of social inadequacy; McBeath & Greenlees, 2016).

Music has been described as therapeutic for victims of trauma not just because of its cost-effectiveness, but because it is especially useful for facilitating posttraumatic growth (Landis-Shack et al., 2017). Music can help ground in the present moment and distract from stressors and challenges, and can allow opportunities for individuals to connect with their communities (Landis-Shack et al., 2017).

Music as a form of therapy has also been found to be effective for treating stroke patients (Sumakul et al., 2020), anxiety (Bibb et al., 2019), coronary artery bypass patients after surgery (Wang-Sheng et al., 2020), children's anxiety during dental treatment (Alkahtani et al., 2020), patients during anesthesia induction (Giordano et al., 2020), hemodialysis patients receiving standard care (Burrai et al., 2020), female surgical patients (Xu et al., 2021), individuals who struggle with specific phobias, obsessivecompulsive disorder, generalized anxiety disorder, and PTSD (Dragulin et al., 2019), polytraumatized patients admitted to resuscitation units (Contreras-Molina et al., 2021), men undergoing prostate biopsy (Dell, 2021), and patients undergoing cesarean delivery (Weingarten et al., 2021). Additionally, musical activity is an effective treatment method for helping comatose patients regain consciousness, leading to decreased symptoms of PTSD (Landis-Shack et al., 2017), as well as socioemotional/cognitive improvement among children who have suffered from abuse (Wentling & Behrens, 2018).

While music therapy, which traditionally involves listening, has been found Musical activity (i.e., the act of playing music or singing) has been shown to activate cognitive and motor function regions of the brain (Schneider et al., 2019). Ploukou and Panagopoulou (2018) found that playing music helped reduce anxiety, depression, and psychosomatic among in nurses who deal with high levels of stress in the workplace. Cognitive-behavioral music therapy was found to increase positive emotion regulation strategies among the elderly (Valizadeh et al., 2021).

Findings from the proposed study will promote positive social change by providing insights regarding the potential for music activity to address social anxiety often associated with religious struggle. These insights may provide information for future research and can be used by mental health professionals to develop evidence-based preventive strategies in order to combat mental health problems related to religious struggles.

Problem Statement

Religious trauma is not novel to the discipline of psychology. Many religions are patriarchal and have historically been associated with practices such as self-shaming, mind control, and judgment, which are factors which lead to social phobia and anxiety (McBeath & Greenlees, 2016). Fear of being judged poorly by others is one of the lingering effects among people who have participated in organized religions such as Christianity (Leichsenring & Leweke, 2017). Given that 83% of all adults living in the U.S. claim to be religious, there is merit in looking at the long-term psychological consequences of religious involvement (Brink & Bekhuis, 2023).

Participating in organized religion has been associated with struggles that impact mental health, such as feeling punished or abandoned by an angry God, guilt over not being able to live up to religious standards, and questioning whether life has any real meaning (Leichsenring & Leweke, 2017). McBeath and Greenlees (2016) described impacts of religious struggles on psychological and emotional wellbeing, stating that for many, religion leaves lasting psychological impacts such as dissociation, projection, reaction formation, poor receptivity to normal social cues (e.g., irony and humor), and repression of common human emotions such as anger or sadness that they have been conditioned to believe are evil or sinful. Religious struggles have been associated with religious trauma syndrome, which, like PTSD, causes individuals to avoid seeking help due to their feelings of judgment, fear, shame, and doubt; they are often unable to fully recognize traumatic effects of their experience until spending time in counseling and psychotherapy (Stone, 2013). The result of religious struggles is a general emotional disturbance and stunted capacity for healthy socialization and maintenance of relationships (Landis-Shack et al., 2017).

One consequence of religious struggle is social anxiety, characterized by an intense fear of social situations where the person experiences physiological and cognitive responses to the fear of being evaluated negatively (Leichsenring & Leweke, 2017). Social anxiety presents several maladaptive thought patterns such as a lingering sense of fear/impending doom, negative self-perceptions, paranoia, perceptions of judgment, fear of social interaction, fear of public speaking, obsessive self-analysis/criticism, and decreased self-regulation (Aslan & Bilgin, 2020). It has also been associated with persistent pessimism (Leichsenring & Leweke, 2017). If untreated, it can lead to depression, substance use disorder, and continued socioemotional deficits (McBeath & Greenlees, 2016). Due to the alienating effects of social anxiety, victims are resistant to seeking help, thus perpetuating social exclusion and fear (McBeath & Greenlees, 2016).

Religious struggle also impedes the ability to regulate one's emotions effectively, negatively impacting relationships and personal/professional goals (Aslan & Bilgin, 2020; Gross, 1998; Landis-Shack et al., 2017). The inability to regulate one's emotions effectively has been associated with mental illness, decreased wellbeing, and decreased quality of social relationships (Nolen-Hoeksema & Morrow, 1993). Emotional dysregulation can also lead to anger, fear, suffering, missed opportunities, and inability to find joy in social interactions (Wells & Papageorgiou, 1998). In extreme cases, emotion dysregulation has been associated with antisocial behavior and even sexual offending (Cole et al., 1994). Cognitive reappraisal is an alternative form of emotion regulation that involves allowing for a reassessment of variables of interest in a social situation so as to mitigate anxiety or other negative symptoms. Cognitive reappraisal as an emotion regulation style, in contrast to expressive suppression, has been associated with improvements in PTSD symptoms (Sun et al., 2020), emotional growth, wellbeing, and social support (Kline & Reed, 2020).

Music is a viable option for improving mental health, mindfulness, social connection, physiological benefits, coping with suffering, pain, and distress, as well as reductions in stress, depression, and anxiety (Moss, 2019). Music therapy has been linked with improved emotion regulation strategies (Valizadeh et al., 2021), decreased symptoms of PTSD (Landis-Shack et al., 2017), socioemotional/cognitive improvement in children who have suffered from abuse (Wentling & Behrens, 2018), and mitigated symptoms of social anxiety in adolescents (Egenti et al., 2019).

Musical activity, whether singing or playing an instrument, has been found to activate multiple areas in the brain that are responsible for cognitive, emotional, and motor functions, leading to improved physical, emotional, and social health (Schneider et al., 2019). Regular musical activity, specifically with others, has been linked to significant reductions in anxiety, depression, and psychosomatic symptoms among individuals with high levels of stress (Ploukou & Panagopoulou, 2018). Music therapy, significantly improves emotion regulation through increased cognitive reappraisal (Valizadeh et al., 2021). This proposed study will advance existing literature by examining the potential for music activity to moderate the relationship between religious struggles and social anxiety among adults living in the U.S.

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this quantitative survey study is to determine if music activity moderates the relationship between religious struggles (IV) and social anxiety (DV). Findings from this research can increase understanding of factors that predict social anxiety and its associated psychological consequences.

Research Questions and Hypotheses

RQ1: Does religious struggle, as measured by the Religious and Spiritual Struggles (RSS-14) scale, predict social anxiety, as measured by the Social Anxiety Questionnaire (SAQ), among adults living in the U.S.?

 H_01 : Religious struggle does not predict social anxiety.

 H_a 1: Religious struggle does predict social anxiety.

RQ2: Does musical activity, as measured by the Music USE (MUSE)

questionnaire predict social anxiety, as measured by the SAQ, among adults living in the U.S.?

 H_02 : Musical activity does not predict social anxiety.

 $H_a 2$: Musical activity does predict social anxiety.

RQ3: Does musical activity, as measured by the MUSE questionnaire, moderate the relationship between religious struggle, as measured by the RSS-14 scale, and social anxiety, as measured by SAQ among adults living in the U.S.?

 H_0 3: Musical activity does not moderate the relationship between religious struggle and social anxiety.

 H_a 3: Musical activity does moderate the relationship between religious struggle and social anxiety.

Theoretical Framework

Gross' emotion regulation theory was the theoretical framework for this study. Originating in the study of psychoanalysis, the emotion regulation theory involves stress management and coping in terms of how humans regulate maladaptive emotions to function and accomplish goals (Gross, 1999). The theory is based on the evolutionary principle that filtering social information is necessary for survival and accomplishing goals. As such, maladaptive emotion regulation skills, such as expressive suppression (e.g., censoring or modifying one's physiological reactions like facial expressions/body language according to emotional stimuli), result in negative consequences, including depression, anxiety, eating pathologies, and substance abuse (Gross, 1999).

Deficits in emotion regulation predicts mood and emotional disturbances, reductions in happiness and wellbeing, decreased quality of social relationships (Nolen-Hoeksema & Morrow, 1993), and antisocial behavior and sexual offending (Cole et al., 1994). Emotion regulation can either mitigate or perpetuate traumatic symptoms (Christ et al., 2021; Haselgruber et al., 2021; Sun et al., 2020). Deficits in emotion regulation caused by trauma manifest as social anxiety (McBeath & Greenlees, 2016). Chapter 2 includes a comprehensive review of the emotion regulation theory and justification for its use in the proposed study.

Nature of the Study

For this study, I used a cross-sectional quantitative survey design to determine the extent to which music activity (IV) moderated the relationship between religious struggles (IV) and social anxiety (DV). A nonexperimental design is used when variables of interest have already occurred and cannot be manipulated by the researcher (Kraska, 2010). Using online surveys, data were collected at one point in time to determine relationships between variables. The online survey design also allowed for a diverse population to participate in this study.

The population of the study was adults living full-time in the U.S. between 18 and 65. 83% of the adult U.S. population are or have been involved in a religious group (Brink & Bekhuis, 2023). Many have reported religious-based struggles, such as feeling manipulated, guilted, shamed, unable to ask questions, and controlled via use of scripture (Oakley & Kinmond, 2014). This trauma typically results in social anxiety (McBeath & Greenlees, 2016), which is of particular concern given that it is the third most common mental disorder, sixth leading cause of disability, and most common anxiety disorder in the U.S. (Yuan et al., 2021). This study involved using an Internet-based survey via the SurveyMonkey research platform; participants were recruited through the SurveyMonkey participant pool. A convenience sampling strategy was used where participants who met inclusion criteria were invited to participate. Data were analyzed using the Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS) version 27.0. Descriptive statistics and a standard multiple regression analysis were completed to determine the extent to which music activity moderated the relationship between religious struggles and social anxiety. A

standard multiple regression analysis was an effective method for examining relationships among multiple variables and also examining moderation.

Definitions

Cognitive reappraisal: Act of adjusting one's perspective to adapt to or reconsider stressful situations (Gross, 1999).

Emotion regulation: Ability to process complex social interactions and regulate emotions effectively, whether through cognitive reappraisal or expressive suppression (Gross, 1998).

Expressive suppression: Act or attempt to disguise one's emotions, or hide, inhibit, or reduce one's behavioral response to a stressful or traumatic event (Gross, 1999).

Musical activity: The act of creating music, whether singing, or playing an instrument, which is considered to be an effective treatment for anxiety, stress, pain, managing emotions, and improving mental health (Rohilla et al., 2018; Schneider et al., 2019; Wentling & Behrens, 2018).

Religious struggles: Ensuing and lingering traumatic effects of having spent time in an organized religion due to perceptions of indoctrination, misuse of power, religious abuse, mind control, fear-based doctrine, pressure to give, serve, or behave in specific ways, and use of guilt tactics (Lewis & Bromley, 1987). Religious struggles result in feeling trapped, loss of one's identity, living in fear of judgment/rejection, and general social anxiety (McBeath & Greenlees, 2016). *Social anxiety:* Resulting stress and anxiety caused by the tendency to engage and even obsess over evaluating social comparisons and subsequent awareness of or fixation on social hierarchies (Parsons et al., 2021)

Assumptions

There were a number of assumptions in this study. First, it was assumed that participants would follow the instructions for completing the surveys accurately. Second, it was assumed that participants would be truthful and accurate with their answers. Due to the mental health stigma and fear of appearing weak, participants may have been disinclined to disclose their social anxiety symptoms and religious struggles. Participants were reminded that the online survey was anonymous and there was no identifying information requested, with the hopes that this would ensure participants feel comfortable answering the social anxiety and religious struggles questions honestly.

Scope and Delimitations

The goal of the study was to examine the potential for music activity to moderate the relationship between religious struggles and social anxiety in U.S. English-speaking adults. The sample was limited to adults ages 18 years or older, currently living in the United States.

Although there could be cross-cultural similarities among adults in the U.S., the examination of cultural differences among adults in the U.S. was beyond the scope of this study. English-speaking adults were chosen because of the prevalence of religious involvement and the prevalence of social anxiety in adults living in the United States (Brink & Bekhuis, 2023; Cashwell & Swindle, 2018, 2016; McBeath & Greenlees;

Nobakht & Yngvar-Dale, 2018)

The emotion regulation theory was chosen for the proposed study in order to explain the potential for music activity to influence emotional responses to social stimuli, in this case, an anxiety response to religious struggle. Because the emotion regulation theory has been used to address social anxiety, through the use of music activity, through either expressive suppression or cognitive reappraisal, it was best suited to inform the proposed study.

Limitations

Use of a nonrandom convenience sample limited its representativeness and generalizability of study findings. Using an Internet-based survey method also has implications in terms of generalizability of findings; while Internet-based research increases the potential for participant diversity, people who volunteer to participate may differ from those who do not volunteer to participate (Stroebe et al., 2018). Furthermore, Internet survey research is subject to sample bias in that demographic differences may exist between Internet users and nonusers (Best et al., 2001). Another limitation of this study is the likelihood that participants were able and willing to provide accurate estimates of social anxiety. As with other mental health disorders, people tend to underreport their symptoms of social anxiety and phobia. In a study with 1071 community residents in Baltimore, Maryland, 12.6% reported social anxiety, compared to 25.3% who were diagnosed with social anxiety, a 12.7% discrepancy (Takayanagi et al., 2014). One explanation for the tendency to underreport is due to social desirability bias in terms of reducing the inconsistency between how one feels and desire to appear normal

based on perceived societal norms, social expectations, and gender roles (Jystad et al., 2021). Anonymous data collection may help encourage participant honesty.

Significance

Social anxiety is the most common anxiety disorder and third-most common mental disorder, it affects 83% of the U.S. adult population (Brink & Bekhuis, 2023). In addition to associations between social anxiety and deficits in psychological health, adult individuals with social anxiety have also been known to experience school dissatisfaction, learning difficulties, and decreased educational aspirations (Jystad et al., 2021). It was the intent of the proposed study to increase awareness of harmful effects of religious struggles as well as provide insights regarding how music activity can mitigate social anxiety caused by these struggles.

Antidepressants, psychotherapy, and cognitive behavioral therapy are the most common treatments for social anxiety, but can be costly and only temporarily effective (Bruffaerts et al., 2022). Positive social change can be achieved by making mental health professionals aware of music activity as a sound and reasonable therapeutic option for mitigating social anxiety (Landis-Shack et al., 2017).

Summary

Social anxiety is a significant social problem among adults living in the U.S. and is related to religious struggles (Goodwin et al., 2020; Leichsenring & Leweke, 2017; McBeath & Greenlees, 2016). This is problematic because of the prevalence of religion, as 83% of the U.S. population identifies as religious (Brink & Bekhuis, 2021). In a sample of 502 people ages 18 to 70+, representing a wide range of church denominations from Pentecostal charismatic through to Roman Catholic and Church of England, 70% reported feeling manipulated by church leadership, 50% felt unable to ask questions, 17% felt shamed and blamed for lifestyle choices, and 86% felt that scripture was used to control behavior (Oakley & Kinmond, 2014). These types of religious struggles have been described as religious abuse, which is a form of betrayal trauma which leaves lasting psychological effects, including social anxiety, general phobias, and depression (Cashwell & Swindle, 2018; Fennell, 1997; Heeran et al., 2020). While people use religion to fulfill their social, emotional, and spiritual needs, its use may result in counterintuitive effects, creating a fear of judgment or failure and debilitating anxiety, leading to fear of social interactions (McBeath & Greenlees, 2016). To this end, I used a quantitative nonexperimental cross-sectional survey via the SurveyMonkey platform. Understanding the potential moderating effect of music activity on the relationship between religious struggles and social anxiety can inform policymakers, educators, mental health practitioners, parents, students, religious leaders, members, and exmembers about prevention and intervention strategies to combat social anxiety.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

Social anxiety is an increasingly pervasive social problem that has surpassed depression as the most common mental disorder in the U.S. Social anxiety affects 13% of the U.S. population, or approximately 32.7 million Americans (Leichsenring & Leweke, 2017). Its negative psychological impacts include lingering sense of fear or impending doom, negative self-perceptions, substance addiction, paranoia, perceptions of judgment, anxiousness, fear of social interaction, fear of public speaking, obsessive self-analysis and criticism, and persistent pessimism (Leichsenring & Leweke, 2017). Social anxiety is associated with and predicted by religious struggles (McBeath & Greenlees, 2016; Exline et al., 2021).

The purpose of this quantitative survey study was to determine if music activity moderated the relationship between religious struggles (IV) and social anxiety (DV). Religious struggles were measured using the Religious and Spiritual Struggles (RSS-14) scale. Musical activity was measured via the Music USE (MUSE) questionnaire. Social anxiety was assessed using the Social Anxiety Questionnaire (SAQ).

Social anxiety is a pervasive problem that affects many people throughout their lives, typically begins during adolescence, and results from negative social cognitions, excessive focus or attention on one's self, substandard parental attachment (Yu et al., 2020), and increased fixation on post-event processing (Chiu et al., 2021). Those who experience social anxiety focus on perceived friendship quality, peer rejection, and peer victimization (Chiu et al., 2021); they tend to perceive neutral social events as negative or even catastrophic, leading to developing an immense fear of social interaction (Chen et al., 2020). People with social anxiety tend to fixate on perceived social threat even if the threat dissipates or resolves due to continued exposure, indicating a processing bias toward negative social perceptions (McGlade et al., 2020). Aslan and Bilgin (2020) found social anxiety is positively associated with a deficiency in self-regulation, either perceived or experienced, such that one lacks the ability to self-regulate in social contexts. Common to social anxiety sufferers is the belief that they have less to contribute to social interactions due to poor sense of humor and being overly serious or less open or willing to self-disclose personal information, which in turn affects their willingness to engage in and express themselves in social contexts; solitary and isolated lifestyles perpetuate the perception of decreased social support, leading consequently to greater social anxiety (Barnett et al., 2021).

Religious struggles are positively linked with social anxiety because of their psychological impacts in terms of dissociation, poor receptivity to normal social cues such as humor or irony, repression of unwanted human emotions like anger or sadness, projection, projective identification, reaction formation, and countertransference (Exline et al., 2022; McBeath & Greenlees, 2016). Fear and conditional beliefs (i.e., if/then thought patterns consisting of demand and consequence) lead to negative self-beliefs and social anxiety (Fennell, 1997; Heeran et al., 2020). Also positively linked with religious trauma is reluctance to engage with others for fear of being judged or assessed poorly (Leichsenring & Leweke, 2017). Religious trauma includes extensive mind control, selfshaming doctrines, and being judged as evil for natural human desires (McBeath & Greenlees, 2016). Many religions are built on strict patriarchal systems with men in positions of authority exerting control over others, leaving lasting cognitive and emotional damage and fear of power and authority (McBeath & Greenlees, 2016).

The experience of trauma, in any form, will likely impede ability to process complex social interactions, including regulating emotions during and following these experiences (Landis-Shack et al., 2017). Victims of religious struggles are often reluctant to seek help due to feelings of shame, self-judgment, self-doubt, and social fear, and will only acknowledge their symptoms after spending significant time in personal counseling and psychotherapy (Stone, 2013). Emotional or mood disturbances with regard to mood and outlook, which are often very difficult to identify and even more difficult to trace, originate with events associated with religious struggles (Landis-Shack et al., 2017). These long-lasting negative psychological effects such as memory impairment, selfshame, social anxiety, and feelings of social inadequacy can affect both members and nonmembers of churches or religious groups (McBeath & Greenlees, 2016). Religiousbased factors include control of information, absence of personal expression and freedom of thought, harsh judgment and/or disciplinary action for any form of noncompliance, and use of imagery of hell to instill a sense of fear and doom (McBeath & Greenlees, 2016).

Effective strategies for addressing social anxiety because of religious struggles have yet to be researched quantitatively. Music activity is a positive intervention, with many benefits observed by researchers since its origin. In a sample of 25 patients in a tertiary care burn unit who were more than 10 years old, conscious, able to respond, and oriented to time, place, and person, there was an observable reduction in anxiety, pain, and opioid use during burn dressing change which were attributed to the experimental group which participated in patient-selected music intervention (Rohilla et al., 2018). Music therapy has also been found to help promote positive social exchanges for children recovering from trauma (Wentling & Behrens, 2018), supporting language-learning, social functioning, and creative exploration (Landis-Shack et al., 2017), helping comatose patients regain consciousness more rapidly (Sun & Chen, 2015), decreasing anxiety (Le Danseur et al., 2019), and promoting cognitive and socioemotional development in children who have been abused (Wentling & Behrens, 2018). However, studies have not yet determined if music activity has the potential to moderate the relationship between religious struggles and social anxiety.

Chapter 2 includes literature search strategies followed by a discussion of the emotion regulation theory and an exhaustive review of literature related to religious struggles, social anxiety disorder, and musical activity.

Literature Search Strategy

The peer-reviewed literature examined for this study was mainly accessed through the Walden University LIbrary. A large majority of the searches were completed through EBSCOHost. There were a number of databases searched, specifically Thoreau PsycINFO, and PsycARTICLES. In addition, Google Scholar was used periodically to search for further literature pertaining to the topic. The key terms used in the study's literature search included: *social anxiety, social anxiety disorder, social phobia, cognitive reappraisal, emotion regulation, expressive suppression, music activity, moderation of anxiety through music, religion, religious struggles, religious trauma,* and *religious abuse.* Finally, most of the literature found for the study was 2016 to 2023. There was older literature used for the discussion of the theory on which emotion regulation theory was based.

Theoretical Foundation

Emotion Regulation Theory

Emotion regulation is a vital part of the human experience and has practical applications in people's daily lives. It can assist with the attainment of a goal through increased focus on a particular task and can also work to suppress behavior deemed counterproductive in pursuit of an identified goal (Gross, 1998).

The term emotion is used to describe instinctively provoked mental states that are experienced positively or negatively in varying degrees of intensity, ranging from momentary or fleeting reactions to feelings that linger for extended periods of time (Frijda, 1987). While human emotions can be adaptive, they are not always helpful, and are frequently regulated or modified to fulfill some other objective (Gross, 1999). People are constantly bombarded with potentially arousing stimuli, yet they subconsciously engage in an automatic filtering process, discarding useless information and harvesting germane data that can aid in the pursuit of goals or objectives.

According to Gross (1998), humans have varying degrees of skills in terms of responding to emotions that both serve their interests and are socially acceptable. Gross mentioned the versatility of emotion regulation in that it can allow spontaneous reactions to emotions while delaying or prohibiting other spontaneous reactions based on a given social context in terms of what is likely to be deemed appropriate or acceptable in that setting. Some common methods for regulating one's emotions include instrumental considerations (i.e., putting one's immediate feelings aside in order to obtain some other long-term goal), situation selection (i.e., engaging in behaviors that increases the odds of experiencing preferable outcomes), modifying the situation (e.g., hiding one's dirty laundry when the in-laws come to visit), attentional deployment (i.e., choosing to shift focus from something less to something more desirable), cognitive change (i.e., reframing an event to be more appealing), and response modulation (i.e., suppression or reappraisal).

Attentional deployment in the form of distraction can be a useful skill for coping with social anxiety as well. Individuals who suffer from social anxiety can adjust their attentional focus toward things that make them feel calm, happy, or grateful (Ekman et al., 1980). A person who is socially anxious at a conference may choose to self-distract by mentally reciting a poem or thinking about what they might do after work or their next summer vacation (Aslan and Bilgin, 2020; Nolen-Hoeksema & Morrow, 1993). Cognitive changes can include other forms of distraction, e.g., thinking of a funny scene from a TV show to divert their attention toward something more momentarily pleasing. If unable to change their situation or change the focus of their attention, individuals may find relief in simply accepting their emotions as physiological responses to a given stimulus, recognizing that these emotions serve a purpose (Kopp & Claire, 1989).

The methods used to regulate one's emotions have an effect on PTSD symptom severity. Christ et al. (2021) examined the relationship between emotion regulation and PTSD severity in a sample of 365 individuals, over the age of 18, living in the United States, and able to speak/read English. Relative to PTSD severity, the authors examined specific attributes of emotion regulation, including lack of access to effective emotion regulation strategies, lack of emotional clarity, emotional nonacceptance, secondary emotional responding, experiencing emotions as out-of-control, difficulties modulating emotional arousal, and low emotional granularity. The researchers found that emotion regulation predictor variables accounted for approximately 28% and 27% of the variance in PTSD severity in the item- and subscale-level models, respectively (Christ et al., 2021).

In other recent literature on PTSD, emotion regulation has been categorized into two opposing strategies, namely cognitive reappraisal and expressive suppression. Cognitive reappraisal is a process by which an individual attempts to reframe their perception of a traumatic event with a more positive outlook to reduce the impact the event has on their emotional wellbeing, whereas expressive suppression is the process of hiding, inhibiting, or reducing one's behavioral response to a stressful or traumatic event, in a sense, denying the impact of an event on one's emotional state. Research indicates that cognitive reappraisal is the preferred and more adaptive strategy for regulating one's emotions, resulting in decreased symptoms related to stress and trauma (Schlumpf et al., 2019).

Cognitive reappraisal, as a method of emotion regulation has been shown to, in numerous studies, effectively mitigate symptoms of PTSD. Haselgruber et al. (2021), in a sample of 208 Austrian foster children, found that emotion regulation mediated the relationship between trauma exposure and symptom severity such that through cognitive reappraisal individuals could learn to regulate their emotions and decrease incidents of
disturbances in self-organization. In a sample of 188 African American females ages 13-17, who had had vaginal intercourse, researchers found that less functional emotion regulation was negatively related to PTSD symptoms at post-release such that less functional emotion regulation through the use of cognitive reappraisal, was associated with greater PTSD symptoms. Peuchlong et al. (2020) studied the interplay between personality traits and cognitive emotion regulation strategies, and the effect on the intensity of PTSD symptoms in 67 French individuals who had been traumatized by flood destruction. The results indicated that cognitive reappraisal moderated the relationship between flood-based trauma and PTSD, reducing the symptoms over time. Baranczuk (2018), in a sample of 280 white motor vehicle survivors between the ages of 18 and 80 found that greater emotional reactivity was associated with greater negative affect and lower positive affect, whereas greater emotional activity was related to greater positive affect and adaptive emotion regulation. These findings suggest that less emotionally reactive individuals had a more active lifestyle, using adaptive emotion regulation strategies such as cognitive reappraisal, to experience a more positive affect and lesssevere PTSD symptoms (Baranczuk, 2018). Schlumpf et al. (2019) also found a positive link between cognitive reappraisal and decreased PTSD symptoms, in a sample of 23 Complex Dissociative Disorder and 21 PTSD patients from two specialized wards at a psychiatric hospital in Switzerland, using an exposure-based cognitive-restructuring trauma therapy, involving individual and group psychotherapy, cognitive stabilization groups, body-oriented movement, occupational therapy, non-verbal therapies (music/art therapy including instrument-playing), and pharmacotherapy. Following the exposurebased, cognitive-restructuring trauma therapy, patients showed increased functional connectivity in hippocampus and prefrontal cortex, including the frontopolar cortex and rostral anterior cingulate cortex, indicating healthy levels of reappraisal and emotion-regulation functionality, and simultaneously showed decreased amygdala activity, indicating decreased fearful or stress-based responses to traumatic stimuli. Overall patients demonstrated a reduction of negative dissociative PTSD symptoms when using cognitive reappraisal (Schlumpf et al., 2019).

Healthy forms of emotion regulation, such as cognitive reappraisal, facilitate general ongoing happiness, decreasing the likelihood of experiencing negative symptoms such as depression, anxiety, jealousy, and sadness (Gross et al., 2001; Sun et al., 2020). Effective emotion regulation has been found to be linked to attachments formed during the first few years of a human's life. There is evidence that teens who have a secure attachment with one or both parents or caregiver were less likely to display dysfunctional anger and demonstrated decreased levels of avoidance in their problem-solving efforts (Kobak et al., 1993).

Those who are deficient in emotion regulation, tending to use expressive suppression, often experience symptoms of depression, anxiety, eating pathology, and substance abuse, while those who demonstrate comparatively high levels of emotion regulation are likely to show exceptional social competence and an effortless expression of socially appropriate emotions (Gross, 1999). There are other potential consequences of debilitated emotion regulation which can have long-term cognitive or social consequences. Many find themselves sabotaging personal relationships or professional endeavors due to unmitigated outbursts of anger or other intense emotions. Emotion dysregulation is a common trait in many forms of mental illness and is found to be linked with long-term negative wellbeing and decreased quality of social relationships (Nolen-Hoeksema & Morrow, 1993). It has also been found that individuals who fail to regulate emotions like anger, anxiety, or fear can suffer needlessly, missing opportunities, and failing to find joy in their social interactions (Wells & Papageorgiou, 1998). Emotion dysregulation has also been linked to antisocial behavior and sexual offending (Cole et al., 1994).

Other results indicated that the more cumulative childhood trauma children experienced, the less adaptive emotion regulation they used and that lower rates of adaptive emotion regulation were associated with increased symptomatology. The findings of this study indicate that emotion regulation moderates the association between trauma exposure and PTSD symptom-severity by decreasing the strength of this relationship (Haselgruber et al., 2021).

In sum, emotion regulation through cognitive reappraisal has the capacity to help individuals who suffer from trauma and PTSD-like symptoms. Through stabilization, confrontation, and integration, emotion regulation can be developed (e.g., using cognitive-restructuring therapy, repeated exposure, individual or group psychotherapy, cognitive stabilization groups, movement/activity-based therapy, social support, music/art therapy, and pharmacotherapy) to promote neural functioning which, in turn, supports cognitive reappraisal and functional emotion regulation to minimize trauma symptoms. Individuals who suppress or avoid their emotional disturbance are more likely to experience maladaptive symptoms associated with PTSD such as anxiety, stress, or cognitive dissonance. Learning to face one's fears, and reassess their situations is critical to finding relief from the pangs of trauma and promoting mental health.

How the Emotion Regulation Theory Relates to the Study

The need to achieve emotional stasis and a sense of internal peace with one's existence is an essential drive that stimulates the internal recognition and regulation of one's emotions (Barrett et al., 2001). People who have suffered from trauma often experience debilitating symptoms of anxiety and stress which can be exacerbated by social interaction due to the inability to filter out irrelevant information or regulating the emotions that arise from social cues (Yuan, et al., 2019). As individuals seek emotional stability in dealing with trauma, they either focus on the response to a stimulus, attempting to mask or meter their reactions based on social context, or they focus on the antecedent, which means they aim to preemptively deal with emotions before they arise, using a method of reappraisal to find stability despite traumatic triggers (Gross, 1998). Regardless of individual personality and temperament differences, it has been found that antecedent-focused emotion regulation is effective for mitigating PTSD symptoms (Baranczuk, 2018). People who have been members of high-demand religious groups often experience symptoms like PTSD and suffer from trauma-like symptoms such as social anxiety (McBeath & Greenlees, 2016). Therefore, emotion regulation theory provides a suitable framework for which to investigate the relationship between religiousbased trauma and social anxiety (Barrett et al., 2001, Schlumpf et al., 2019; Gross, 1998; McBeath & Greenlees, 2016).

The goal of the present research was to determine the extent to which playing music moderated the relationship between religious struggles and social anxiety. Emotion regulation theory explains the potential for antecedent-focused emotion regulation to deal with social anxiety associated with religious-based struggles (Heeren et al., 2020; Hur et al., 2020; McBeath & Greenlees, 2016). It has been found that musical activity has the capacity to promote functional emotion regulation by increasing the ability and tendency to reappraise stressful situations versus suppressing or denying their existence (Schlumpf et al., 2019). Utilizing emotion regulation theory provides a means to investigate the extent to which musical activity (IV) moderates the relationship between religious struggles and (IV) social anxiety (DV).

Literature Review Related to Key Variables

Religious Struggles

In 2011, Mary Winell discussed the traumatic effects faced by individuals who have lost their identities to their religions through indoctrination, religious abuse (Lewis & Bromley, 1987), and other religious struggles. According to Exline et al. (2014; 2021), these religious struggles entail the existential tensions, conflicts, and negative emotions around religious/spiritual matters which can manifest in the perception of conflict with God, gods, demons, the devil, interpersonal conflicts with others, inner anxiety about morality, doubts in one's beliefs, or lack of ultimate meaning, purpose, or 'calling' in life.

Religious struggles are typically categorized into the following: divine (felt as though God had abandoned me), demonic (worried of being attacked by a demon or the devil), interpersonal (felt hurt/mistreated by religious/spiritual people/leaders), moral

(wrestled with attempts to follow moral principles), doubt (confused about religious/spiritual beliefs), and ultimate meaning (felt directionless or purposeless; Exline et al., 2014). While many aspects of religious struggles are innate to participating in a religion, other elements may be triggered by religious/spiritual/physical abuse.

Religious Abuse

Religious abuse, which has been defined as the act of an individual in a position of religious leadership/authority to gain power and control over individuals or collective groups, is a subset of betrayal trauma, which is most often caused by a person or institution on whom others are dependent (Cashwell & Swindle, 2018). Religious abuse includes mental, physical, sexual, and/or emotional abuse, occurring within a religious context or setting, with results that are deeply traumatizing to the individual with symptoms similar to PTSD, and possible dissociation ((Nobakht & Yngvar-Dale, 2018). Emotional abuse tends to be the most common type of religious abuse, whereby religious teachings are used, intentionally, to trigger feelings of fear, guilt, and shame, leaving individuals feeling alone, distressed, worthless, neglected or defective, which ultimately harms their self-concept and sense of personal value, resulting in lasting trauma (Novšak et al., 2012).

There are three categories of religious abuse: abuse perpetrated by religious leaders (e.g., pressuring an abused woman to stay in the marriage due to distorted scriptural interpretations against divorce), abuse perpetrated by a religious group or a person representing a religious group (e.g., position taken by a religious community that condones gender discrimination, promotes systemic racism, and/or excludes members of the gay/lesbian/bisexual/transgender/questioning community), and abuse with a religious or spiritual component (e.g., when a husband justifies domestic violence or marital rape situations, citing religious passages compelling the wife's submission to her husband). Spiritual Abuse

Spiritual abuse is defined as the mistreatment of a person who needs help, support, or greater spiritual empowerment, resulting in the weakening and undermining of that person's sense of spiritual empowerment. Six themes emerged (i.e., *leadership representing God, spiritual bullying, acceptance via performance, spiritual neglect, manifestation of internal states, and expanding external/internal tension*), suggesting that spiritual abuse is multi-faceted and multi-layered and includes both processes and events that affect an individual's bio/psycho/social and spiritual well-being.

Spiritual abuse is another type of religious abuse where power-seeking leaders use conventions of punishment, information control, coercion, thought control, and relational powers to influence Christians in the name of God through coercion or thought control described as a deeply emotional and personal attack, which often results in emotional and social trauma (Kessler & Kessler, 2021; Stevens et al., 2019; Ward, 2011). Oakley and Humphreys (2018) discussed the findings of a 2017 survey on people's membership experiences in a United Kingdom Christian church. The overarching theme of people feeling "harmed" by the church through thought/behavior control and manipulation (i.e., spiritual abuse) was reported. Religious leaders have at times been described as *spiritual bullies* who used intimidation, rejection, and emotional manipulation to maintain control. In an online survey of 502 people, ages 18 to 70, who had attended or were currently attending various church denominations, 74% reported an overall personally damaging church experience, 70% felt unable to ask questions, 17% felt they were made to feel shame or blame in their current church, 49% of ex-members felt they were made to feel shame or blame, 70% felt manipulated by their current church leadership, 84% at their previous church, and 45% and 69% felt that scripture was used to control behavior by their current church and previous church leadership, respectively (Oakley & Kinmond, 2014).

Physical Abuse

Sexual abuse, a form of physical abuse, is a problem in some religions. In a recent qualitative review of case studies, Raine and Kent (2019) examined the sexual grooming of children and their caregivers in a variety of religious settings, and found some common grooming practices which include giving of gifts, showing individualized attention, touching, massage, hugging, or praise. The results of sexual abuse by a religious are momentous. In a study of 231 psychology students, ages 17-35, Stevens et al., (2019) found that those who were sexually abused by religious authorities or caregivers were more depressed, and that students who self-identified as having been physically abused by parents were more at risk for sexual abuse by religious authorities than controls and were more likely to separate from their religious communities. Religious parents and other authority figures are also more likely to endorse corporal punishment (Rodriguez & Henderson, 2010).

Social Anxiety Disorder

Perceptions of social status and social comparison are at the core of the experience of social anxiety, along with subtle individual and gender differences in perceptions of social status indicators such as likeability and popularity (Goodman et al., 2021; Henricks et al., 2021). Recent research revealed a negative association between social status and social anxiety such that with increased social status, there would be decreased levels of social anxiety, and that social avoidance and distress were related to being less popular and less liked. Additionally, girls, more than boys, who are seen as less popular by their classmates tend to avoid social situations more frequently, experiencing greater distress and social anxiety symptoms over time (Henricks et al., 2021).

Social anxiety is a form of anxiety where the cause or trigger for the anxiety symptoms is specifically *social*, occurring in various combinations, e.g., with certain people or crowds or in specific social settings (Goodman et al., 2021). Core components of social anxiety include judgments about oneself compared to internalized social standards (Goodman et al., 2021; Parsons et al., 2021). Increased time spent on smartphones consequently results in increased levels of social anxiety (Midgley et al., 2021). Yilmaz et al. (2021) also found that combination of authoritative parental attitudes and deficit emotion regulation strategies positively predicted social anxiety. Other research has pointed to early adversities as predictors of social anxiety, with a significant association between the experience of major adverse childhood events and social anxiety symptoms, especially when an individual had experienced three or more adverse events (Meng et al., 2021).

Anxiety disorders have been associated with poor quality of life, unemployment, suicidal ideation, causing an immense economic burden to its sufferers. While many people experience subclinical levels of anxiety symptoms in their lifetimes, they still experience significant suffering and impairment. In 2014, anxiety disorders were reported to be the sixth leading cause of disability (Yuan et al., 2021). The pandemic also had an effect on social anxiety levels. Dickey et al. (2021) revealed that emerging adults experienced overall increases in symptoms of depression and anxiety during the pandemic, such that increases in social anxiety were related to chronic interpersonal stress and hyperreactivity to threatening stimuli.

In addition to emotions that had previously been associated with social anxiety, such as shame and embarrassment, loneliness is also experienced at increased levels for individuals with this disorder (Oren-Yagoda et al., 2021). Sleep quality is another variable that can be both a product and maintaining factor of social anxiety, according to Dutcher et al. (2021). These researchers found that poorer sleep quality was significantly related to slower improvement over time and worse social anxiety symptoms at the end of treatment and follow-up. Barber et al. (2021) found that social anxiety may inhibit the positive emotional/interpersonal outcomes for people during one-on-one social interactions, perpetuating symptoms of social anxiety.

Social anxiety also has implications for personal and academic success. Jystad et al. (2021) investigated the relationship between social anxiety and school functioning

(i.e., learning difficulties, truancy, social exclusion, school dissatisfaction, and behavioral difficulties such as hyperactivity and/or attention problems) and educational aspirations (i.e., educational level). Those screening positive for anxiety disorder and who reported social anxiety symptoms had increased rates of behavioral difficulties, school dissatisfaction, social exclusion, truancy, and learning difficulties compared to controls. Additionally, social anxiety symptoms and positive anxiety disorder were negatively associated with educational aspirations.

Strategies to Address Social Anxiety Symptoms

Butler et al. (2021) found that cognitive behavioral therapy helped reduced patients' social anxiety/depressive symptoms and that their quality of life had increased. Cognitive behavior therapy has also been shown to help stimulate cognitive reappraisal as a form of emotion regulation which can help improve social anxiety symptoms (Kivity et al., 2021). In addition to cognitive behavioral therapy, physical activity has been found to improve cognitive functioning, life satisfaction, wellbeing, and has positive effects on mood and anxiety, including social anxiety (Herring et al., 2021). Self-compassion has also been suggested as a remedy for social anxiety. Bates et al. (2021) found that self-compassion significantly predicted decreased symptoms of social anxiety directly, mediated by lower levels of expressive suppression and a significant positive relationship between self-compassion and cognitive reappraisal. Role-reversal may also have the potential to reduce the effects of social anxiety. Using an experimental design, Abeditehrani et al. (2021) found that role-playing followed by role-reversal significantly reduced negative cognitions.

Religious Struggles and Social Anxiety

There has been a history of documentation on the link between religion and anxiety. One of the first examinations indicated a significant positive correlation between Catholic religious affiliation and both depression and anxiety among 760 randomly selected women residing on farms in a mid-western state, with a large effect size of .976, p < .002 (Hertsgaard & Light, 1984). Another developmental study with 100 undergraduates at the University of Alabama indicated that religiousness was positively correlated with fearfulness (r = .33, p < .001), and anxiety (r = .20, p < .05; Wilson & Miller, 1968). A more recent study with 316 private university undergraduate students revealed moderate, positive associations with depression and anxiety (Exline et al., 2021).

Religious struggles have been described as a variant of PTSD and is associated with higher-than-average mental health problems (Kauffman, 2002). One aspect that might lead to religious struggles is what has been described as a loss of the assumptive world, a conceptualization of the world-ultimate truth, which brings meaning to existence and a promise of what happens to humans after death (Kauffman, 2002). When leaving religion, individuals face a traumatic loss of the assumptive world, meaning that all is lost; there is no hope and there is no concept of future, a state of mind that is intense and overwhelming. The process of leaving is traumatic for people involved in religious groups due to the high demands placed on members. From the outset, people are taught that outsiders are dangerous, evil, and worldly and by departing the church, they are entering into this dangerous territory, becoming one with the sinners. This comes with severe psychological consequences such as loss of the senses of belonging and purpose. Because many religions are patriarchal, women face compounded burdens, facing thought and behavioral control and generalized subjugation (Weishaupt et al., 1997).

Members of high-demand religious groups tend to struggle with social anxiety due to experiences of dissociation, lack of awareness of normal social cues, repression of human emotions like anger or sadness, perception of psychology as evil, and a sense of inherent defectiveness (McBeath & Greenlees, 2016). The fear and judgment imposed by high-demand religious groups often result in social anxiety due to negative self-beliefs, self-shaming, and fear of being judged by others as sinful. These experiences produce a trauma like PTSD in individuals who have left the church as they are unable to regulate their emotions and experience increased anxiety during complex social interactions (Landis-Shack et al., 2017). Because psychology is taught to be "of the world," these individuals will often avoid getting professional help, ultimately perpetuating their continued struggles (Stone, 2013).

Music Activity

Music is a tool that has the power to provide people with peak moments of joy and exhilaration (Maslow, 1970). It has been said to send its listeners and creators into transformative landscapes of beauty, wonder, and transcendence, especially when suffering ill health or in distress (Moss, 2019). Music activity, especially with others, has been associated with physical, social, and emotional benefits. Singing, especially with others, has been correlated with increased social connection, physical and physiological benefits (specifically respiratory health), cognitive stimulation, mental health, enjoyment, and transcendence. Singers in choirs describe their experience as uplifting, life affirming; they report a sense of connection at the heart or energy level with an overarching theme of transcendence and meditative or mindful benefits (Moss, 2019). In other testimonials, musicians state that musical activity requires complete concentration and focus, being present and living in the moment, and that is itself a form of mindfulness. Studies indicate that musical activity produces endorphin levels like exercise often leading to reduced stress, depression, and anxiety (Moss, 2019). Paul et al. (2020) found that patients with schizophrenia experienced increased strength, emotional fulfillment, social intimacy and skill, liberation, and creative inspiration when treated with music therapy.

Music therapy has long been researched and noted for its capacity to reduce stress, anxiety, pain, and depression for stroke patients (Sumakul et al., 2020). It has been shown to alleviate burnout and stress in operating room staff (Kacem et al., 2017), and has helped to increased hospital satisfaction compared to standard treatment (Tan et al., 2020). It has also been shown to increased patient satisfaction scores on pain control, emergency department recommendation and staff care of emergency department patients who received music therapy compared to patients who did not receive music therapy services (Mandel et al., 2019).

Combined music therapy treatment, with cognitive behavioral therapy, has been shown to be most effective at reducing levels of depression, with instrumental musical activity reducing levels of depression by 82.6% (Bibb et al., 2019). These researchers studied 13 female participants struggling with eating disorders and found that music therapy was associated with decreased anxiety after a public social eating challenge. Music has also been shown to be effective in reducing anxiety, measured with the statetrait anxiety inventory in older adults while visiting the emergency department (Belland et al., 2017). Wang-Sheng et al. (2020) pointed to the anxiety/pain/depression-relieving aspect of music therapy in 99 coronary artery bypass grafting patients after surgery, recruited from a cardiac center in China. The results indicated that the music therapy group showed the most significant reductions in pain, anxiety, and depression following the surgical procedure. Music therapy is also an effective treatment for children's anxiety during dental treatment (Alkahtani et al., 2020).

Still other accounts of music therapy reducing anxiety are scattered throughout Reword the literature. Music therapy has been demonstrated to be effective at reducing anxiety in patients during anesthesia induction (Giordano et al., 2020), in hemodialysis patients receiving standard care augmented with music therapy (Burrai et al., 2020), in female surgical patients in an academic hospital in Singapore (Xu et al., 2021), in individuals who struggle with specific phobias, obsessive-compulsive disorder, generalized anxiety disorder, and posttraumatic stress disorder (Dragulin et al., 2019), in poly-traumatized patients admitted to the resuscitation unit of a tertiary level hospital in Spain (Contreras-Molina et al., 2021), in men undergoing prostate biopsy (Dell, 2021), and in patients undergoing cesarean delivery (Weingarten et al., 2021). As a means of reducing anxiety, stress, depression, and pain, music therapy has the potential to help people regulate their emotions more effectively. Using cognitive-behavioral music therapy, a relatively new form of treatment, Valizadeh et al. (2021) found that cognitivebehavioral music therapy resulted in increased cognitive reappraisal emotion regulation of elderly emotions (P<0.05; Valizadeh et al., 2021).

While music listening has been shown to improve mental health and socialization, playing or creating music has been shown to influence brain and cognitive functioning by activating multiple areas of the brain, including cognitive and motor functions, leading to overall increased cognitive ability (Schneider et al., 2019). Ploukou and Panagopoulou (2018) also explored the benefits of playing music among 48 oncology nurses who deal with high levels of stress and found that anxiety, depression, and psychosomatic symptoms significantly decreased for the treatment group while the control group, who received no musical intervention, displayed no significant changes in any of the variables measured. These findings are consistent with other research indicating that the process of engaging in creating music, whether independently or with others, is related to increased mental health and decreased pain among burn patients in a tertiary care burn unit (Rohilla et al., 2018). Another study involving 90 patients with cerebral palsy, concluded that music therapy helped to improve memory, attention, and quality of life. Playing percussive instruments, specifically, led to improved hand functions and dexterity, while salsa/tango dancing helped improve gait and balance in cerebral palsy/stroke patients Siqueira and Villasuso-Lago (2012). Still other research has confirmed the benefits of playing music with 51 children with autism, with the parents of the children in the music group reporting significant improvements in their children's communication skills and family quality of life, higher than those reported for the control group (Sharda et al., 2018). Musical activity has been found to assist in comatose patients regaining

consciousness, as well as decreasing symptoms of PTSD (Landis-Shack et al., 2017), and helps promote socioemotional/cognitive improvement in children who have suffered from abuse (Wentling & Behrens, 2018).

Music Activity and Social Anxiety

Many individuals who suffer from anxiety disorders are treated with pharmacological approaches often leading to numerous side effects, including increased gastrointestinal discomfort, diarrhea, jitteriness, insomnia, and headaches, and thus there has been an increase in attentiveness towards alternative therapeutic treatments (Lu et al., 2021). While the more common alternative treatment for anxiety has been cognitive behavioral therapy; however, 36% of anxiety patients do not show any improvement with cognitive behavioral therapy, and 40% of children with anxiety who discontinued cognitive behavioral therapy experienced a relapse in their symptoms (Lu et al., 2021).

An alternative or a supplemental treatment format would be music therapy or music activity, or the act of creating music, which has been found to be helpful in reducing stress, anxiety and depression. In college students, music activity was significantly associated with an improved sense of self-worth and a desire for the inclusion of others (Feng and Li, 2020). Dingle et al. (2021) also found, assessing the impact of musical activity on 6,975 participants' health and wellbeing, through a review of 63 empirical studies, that playing a musical instrument was correlated with improved cognitive health and wellbeing in school students, older adults, and people with mild brain injuries. In addition, it was discussed that rapping and songwriting had positive effects on social interaction, social and cultural inclusion, connection, self-esteem, and empowerment; singing in the car improved posture and agitation, and group singing supported cognitive health in older adults with varying physical or mental conditions (Dingle et al., 2021).

Other research has identified the benefit of music therapy for treating generalized anxiety disorder in patients who were under clinical control and receiving pharmacotherapy (i.e., treatment with medication; Gutierrez & Camarena, 2015), data analysis revealing that both active and passive applications of music therapy were effective in significantly reducing anxiety and depression. Another literature review, which included 26 trials and with a total of 1,369 participants, indicated that music activity was significant in helping to reduce stress and anxiety in individuals with coronary heart disease (Bradt et al., 2009). Another study confirmed that music therapy, used in conjunction with yoga, was effective in reducing depression, anxiety, and stress (Vajpeyee et al., 2021). With further interest in the effects of COVID-19 on individuals burdened by the isolation and financial distress, another recent study looked at the impact and role of music activity in the wake of the pandemic on 1,031 adult individuals between May and June 2020 in the US, Spain, and Italy, the three countries most severely affected by the pandemic at that time and where confinement orders were in place, finding that out of the more than forty everyday activities in nine broad categories, music-related activities were rated as the most helpful for coping with the pandemic by most participants which they said also reduced negative psychological symptoms (Herrero, 2020).

Music therapy has recently been used in conjunction with cognitive behavioral

therapy to treat social anxiety. To determine the combined effect of music therapy and cognitive behavioral therapy on social anxiety, Egenti et al. (2019) conducted a randomized controlled trial design with 155 adolescents in secondary schools in southeast Nigeria assigned to either a treatment group or a waitlist control group over a 12-week period. Weekly sessions alternated between music therapy (e.g., opera, rock, pop, classical and folk music relaxation skills, song, and breath control) and cognitive behavioral therapy (e.g., cognitive restructuring, reframing, rhythmic-based skills, attention training, and mood monitoring skills). Participants completed self-report measures of generalized anxiety (Generalized Anxiety Disorder-Child Ages 11-17) and social anxiety (Social Anxiety Scale for Adolescents, Liebowitz Social Anxiety Scale for Children and Adolescents, self-report version). Results indicated that social anxiety decreased significantly over time in the treatment group, whereas the control group showed no significant changes in social anxiety. The follow-up assessment also revealed a significant reduction in social anxiety for the treatment group t(77)=176.675, P<.001 (Egenti et al., 2019).

Conclusion

My goal was to examine the extent to which musical activity moderated the relationship between religious struggles and social anxiety among adults living in the U.S. Religious struggles can instill fear and self-incrimination, manifesting in social anxiety. The theory of emotion regulation informed the proposed study, as it was used to provide insights regarding the topic. To date, no studies have investigated the potential for emotion-regulating benefits of music activity to reduce social anxiety as experienced

by victims of religion. Findings could inform therapeutic interventions that are made available to mental health professionals whose services are sought by social anxiety sufferers.

Chapter 3 includes the research design, sampling procedure, instruments, and statistical approach used to address the research questions.

Chapter 3: Research Method

The purpose of this quantitative study was to determine the extent to which music activity moderated the relationship between religious struggle and social anxiety. Chapter 3 includes the research design and rationale, population, sampling and sampling procedures, procedures for recruitment, participation, and data collection, instrumentation and operationalization of constructs, data analysis plan, threats to validity, and ethical procedures.

Research Design and Rationale

I used a quantitative nonexperimental correlational design to determine the extent to which music activity (IV) moderated the relationship between religious struggles (IV) and social anxiety (DV). Quantitative research is appropriate for examining statistical relationships among variables. A nonexperimental design was selected as independent variables were not manipulated. Surveys are often used in nonexperimental research for convenience, allowing large populations to be assessed quickly with greater statistical power.

Methodology

Population

The study's target population was full-time U.S. English-speaking adults between 18 and 65. As of 2020, there were 331.4 million people living in the U.S., and of this number, more than 75% were adults older than 18 (Ogunwole et al., 2010). Although home to more than 350 languages, English is most spoken in the U.S., and is used exclusively by 241 million native English speakers (Lufkin, 2018; Lyons, 2017).

Sampling and Sampling Procedures

A nonprobability self-selected convenience sampling technique was used to recruit participants; this is the preferred sampling strategy as it is time- and cost-effective. Nonprobability sampling techniques cannot guarantee a representative sample and may limit generalizability of study findings. The sample was obtained using SurveyMonkey, a cloud-based survey platform that is used for conducting online survey research. SurveyMonkey allows users to email, text, share on social media, or send surveys through a weblink to participants who meet all inclusion criteria. SurveyMonkey allowed me to set inclusion criteria for participation.

A power analysis was performed to calculate sample size using G*Power 3.1 software. Exline et al. (2021) examined the relationship between religious/spiritual struggles and measures of mental health (i.e., depression, anxiety, satisfaction with life, and meaning in life) and found that effect sizes were moderate to large and all above .40 for the relationships between the six religious struggles subscales (*divine, demonic, interpersonal, moral, doubt, ultimate meaning*) and mental health. Religiousness is positively correlated with mental issues (Wilson & Miller, 1968). Compared to correlational effect sizes, moderation effect sizes tend to be much smaller; a 30-year review of the size of moderating effects that were assessed using multiple regression revealed the median observed effect size was only .002 (Aguinis et al., 2005). Considering the varying effect sizes the correlational studies on religious struggles and mental health, I used an effect size of .04.

The minimum recommended sample size was calculated using the following parameters for linear multiple regression (fixed model, R^2 increase): an alpha level of .05, power of .80, an estimated effect size of .04 for the moderators (i.e., four subscales of the MUSE - playing, cognitive/emotional regulation, engaged production, and social connextion), four tested predictors (interaction variable), and nine total predictor variables (i.e., religious struggles, four music activity subscales, and the four interaction variables - religious struggles x instrument playing, religious struggles x cognitive/emotional regulation, religious struggles x engaged production, & religious struggles x social connection). This resulted in a recommended sample size of 327.

Procedures for Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection

Participants were recruited using SurveyMonkey, which is commonly used by students conducting dissertation research. Benefits to using SurveyMonkey compared to traditional surveys include less expense, less time, and greater access to diverse populations. SurveyMonkey provides participants with links directing them to online surveys if they meet inclusion criteria for participation; ineligible respondents are immediately removed from the survey. A brief explanation of the study was provided, and I explained to participants they had the opportunity to decline participation or exit the study at any time without penalty. Informed consent forms were provided on the first page of the survey, which were time stamped by SurveyMonkey with an agree button for participants to select to continue. Informed consent forms included the purpose of the study, its voluntary nature, expectations for participation, privacy assurances, risks, and benefits, and contact information for crisis assistance should participants experience any discomfort while completing surveys. A five-question demographic questionnaire was completed followed by study instruments in the following order: SAQ, MUSE questionnaire, and RSS-14 scale. Participants were instructed to respond based on how they felt currently, and all data were collected anonymously with no identifying information. There were 49 questions total. Participants had access to Walden University's participant advocate if necessary. The approximate amount of time to complete all survey items was 35 minutes.

Instrumentation and Operationalization of Constructs Demographic Questionnaire

The demographic questionnaire took less than 5 minutes to complete and included questions about participants' age, gender, race, marital status, and education level. **SAQ**

The SAQ is a theoretically and empirically valid measure of social anxiety (Caballo et al., 2010). For this study, a condensed version was used which was developed from the original 2010 version (SAQ-14; Lakuta, 2018). This version, which is in the public domain, consists of 10 items that measure five components of social anxiety: *negative view of the self, self-focused attention, safety behaviors, somatic and cognitive symptoms, and anticipatory/post-event rumination.* The 10 items from the SAQ are rated on a Likert scale ranging from 1 (*strongly disagree*) to 5 (*strongly agree*). The total score ranges from 10 to 50, with higher scores indicating higher levels of social anxiety. The approximate time to complete the SAQ was 10 minutes.

Reliability and Validity. The internal consistency for the SAQ for adults was verified

with a participant pool of 12,144, representing 11 different countries (Caballo et al., 2010a). Cronbach's α was .97 for the total scale and a total average inter-item correlation of .279. In a sample of 249 nonclinical Caucasian/White Polish citizens, 18–52 years (M age = 23.47 years; SD = 4.57; 76.7%, women; 78.3%, students), Łakuta (2018) found strong internal consistency for the 10-item, 5-factor version of the SAQ, Cronbach's α values were .87, .84, .70, .84, and .83 for negative view of self, self-focused attention, safety behaviors, somatic and cognitive symptoms, and anticipatory/post-event *rumination*, respectively, as well as the total social anxiety score, Cronbach's α =.91. Lakuta (2018) also assessed test-retest reliability (n=95) across a four-week duration with an intraclass correlation coefficient of .89. Mosarezaee et al. (2020) used Cronbach's a to measure the internal consistency of the total score for SAQ with a sample of 299 Persian students, finding strong internal consistency, Cronbach's α =.92. In another study with 484 Canadian and Belgian non-clinical participants, the internal consistency for Cronbach's α was .91 and .94 (social anxiety total score) for Canadian and Belgian samples, respectively (Bravo et al., 2019). These researchers also asked a subsample of the Canadian participants (n=54) to complete the SAQ after several weeks, finding that test-retest reliability for the total score was r=.79, confirming the temporal stability of the SAQ.

Caballo et al. (2015) found strong evidence for concurrent validity of the SAQ, by assessing the correlations with other widely used questionnaires for measuring social phobia/anxiety including the Social Phobia and Anxiety Inventory (SPAI), the Liebowitz Social Anxiety Scale (LSAS), and the Social Phobia Inventory (SPIN). Concurrent validity was shown by high correlations with the SPAI (.74), the LSAS (.72), and the SPIN (.69). The 6 factors of the SAQ-AR further showed moderate correlations with these measures, ranging from .44 to .75. Even factors that did not correspond to any of the preexisting questionnaires, such as *Interactions with the Opposite Sex* and *Assertive Expression of Annoyance, Disgust, or Displeasure* showed correlations ranging from .44 to .62, indicating that this scale measured areas of social anxiety that the other scales failed to measure.

Lakuta (2018) also confirmed the convergent validity of the SAQ, using Pearson correlational analysis to explore the association between the SAQ and other criterion measures including anxiety (Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale), loneliness (De Jong Gierveld Loneliness Scale), self-focused rumination (Rumination Questionnaire), and self-esteem (Rosenberg Self-Esteem Scale). SAQ total scores were significantly and positively correlated with loneliness (Pearson r = .58, p < .001) and ruminative thinking (r = .60, p < .001) and significantly and negatively correlated with self-esteem (r = .73, p < .001)p < .001). There was also a significant positive correlation between the SAQ and anxiety symptoms (r = .69, p < .001), between somatic and cognitive symptoms and Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale (r = .67, p < .001); anticipatory and post-event rumination was positively correlated with ruminative thinking (r = .61, p < .001) and negative view of the self was correlated with self-esteem (r = -.78, p < .001). There were significant correlations with general anxiety symptoms and self-focused attention and safety behaviors (r = .45, p < .001, respectively) and self-esteem (r = -.55, p < .001; r = -.51, $p \le .001$, respectively), and self-focused attention was significantly related to ruminative

thinking (r = .53, p < .001). These findings constitute strong evidence for the convergent validity of the SAQ (Łakuta, 2018).

Content validity for the shortened, 10-item version of the SAQ was conducted by a panel of six independent expert judges (psychology professors) who assessed: whether the items were consistent with the content of social anxiety, whether the items were suitable and in accordance with the definition and theoretical dimensions, and whether the wording of the items was accurate (Łakuta, 2018). Based on the ratings of the six experts, a Content Validity Index was determined; items with an index score of .83 or above were considered to be acceptable and were retained.

Confirmatory factor analysis indicated a good model fit: $\chi 2/df = 35.34/25$ (the relative chi-square was equal to 1.41), comparative fit index = .99, goodness of fit index = .96, normed fit index = .96, Tucker-Lewis Index = .98, standardized root mean square residual = .031, and root mean square error of approximation = .054 (90% confidence interval = .001 – .090). The standardized factor loadings in the 5-factor model (one factor for each pair of items) ranged from .64 to .96, which suggests that the 5-factor model was robust across all four samples; clinical (*n*=92) and non-clinical (*n*=249) in study 1, *n*=156 in study 2, and *n*=135 in study 3 (studies 2 and 3 were executed for further validation; Łakuta, 2018). Because the SAQ is in the public domain, permission to use is not required.

MUSE Questionnaire

The MUSE Questionnaire is a 58- or a reduced 32-item format questionnaire, in the public domain, that consists of two sections, with a question in the first section addressing instrumental playing experience, while section two explores the styles of music engagement (i.e., *cognitive/emotional regulation, engaged production, social connection, dance, and physical exercise*; Chin & Rickard, 2012). For this study, only index 3 (i.e., *music-playing*) and engagement styles 1, 2, and 3 (i.e., *cognitive/emotional regulation, engaged production, social connection*) were used and were scored as independent subscales. Responses to item statements for engagement styles were made on a 5-point Likert scale ranging from 1(*not at all/not applicable*) to 5 (*always/extremely*) for each item. The approximate time to complete the MUSE Questionnaire was 10 minutes. There are 20 questions total that were used. Because the MUSE Questionnaire is in the public domain, it was available for use in research without permission from the authors.

Reliability and Validity. Chin and Rickard (2012) used Cronbach's a to measure the reliability of the MUSE Questionnaire (N = 210) across four engagement styles (i.e., *cognitive/emotional regulation, engaged production, social connection, dance/physical exercise*), with a coefficients ranging from .77 to .95 across all four styles, demonstrating its reliability as a measure of music use. In a later study, Chin and Rickard (2014) again used Cronbach's a to measure the reliability of the MUse Questionnaire (N = 637) with satisfactory results; Cronbach's a ranged from .78 to .87. In this study, dance and physical activity were separated into separate engagement subscales and again found satisfactory results using Cronbach's a; for the five styles of music engagement subscales (i.e., *cognitive/emotional regulation, engaged production, social connection, dance*, and *physical exercise*), Cronbach's a was .76, .92, .81, .82, and .75, respectively. A second sample was recruited in a second study with the intention of establishing preliminary validity and reliability of the music engagement styles identified in Study 1. The five factors of music engagement demonstrated sufficient reliability, with a coefficients ranging from .78 to .87 (M = .82).

Chin and Rickard (2012) used music background indices, styles of music engagement, demographics, the brief Music Experience Questionnaire and the Emotion Regulation Questionnaire to assess the validity of the MUSE Questionnaire. Content validity of final items was verified by discussion with music psychology experts (Chin & Rickard, 2012). The Kaiser Meyer-Olkin (.86) measure verified the sampling adequacy (N = 637), and a significant Bartlett's test of sphericity χ^2 (7626) = 24196.52, p < .001indicated that correlations between items, with a coefficients ranging from .78 to .87, were sufficiently large for factor analysis. Based on the scree plot and Horn's parallel analysis, four factors were retained, which when combined explained 46.48% of the variance. Varimax rotation was used for all factor analyses. Partial correlations were used to assess the linear relationship between engaged production and music instrument playing, controlling for years of training. The partial correlation was statistically significant, r(207) = .21, p = .003. After controlling for years of training, 4.4% of the variability in music instrument playing could still be accounted for by engaged production.

Chin and Rickard (2012) used exploratory factor analysis to further establish validity of the MUSE Questionnaire; the Kaiser Meyer-Olkin measure verified the sampling adequacy for this analysis (.76). A significant Bartlett's test of sphericity χ 2

(1225) = 3426.62, p < .001, as well as Cronbach's a ranging from .78 to .87, and values for the five styles of music engagement, .76, .92, .81, .82, and .75, respectively, indicated that the correlations between items were sufficiently large for factor analysis. Using Spearman's correlation to examine the relationship between the demographic variables and each of the subscales, they found that males were more likely to engage with music for engaged production, whereas females were more likely to engage with music for dance and physical exercise). There were no significant associations between education, employment status, and the subscales. Overall, their data indicate that the MUSE Questionnaire is a reliable and valid tool for measuring an individual's level of active engagement with music, and that it offers researchers a sensitive approach to exploring benefits of music engagement by assessing both quality and quantity dimensions of music use.

RSS-14

RSS-14 is a 26-item measure that assesses different types of religious struggles (Exline et al., 2014). For the purposes of this study, a condensed version was used which has 14 items that were taken directly from the full Religious and Spiritual Struggles and can be completed in reference to a specific time point (i.e., the past week or month) or a specific event (i.e., health crisis or loss; Exline et al., 2021). There are six subscales that measure different types of spiritual struggles including: *divine* (i.e., felt as though God had abandoned or was punishing oneself), *demonic* (i.e., worried that the problems one was facing was the work of the devil of evil spirits), *interpersonal* (i.e., felt hurt, mistreated, or offended by religious/spiritual people; had conflicts with other people

about religious/spiritual matters), *moral* (i.e., wrestled with attempts to follow moral principles; felt guilty for not living up to moral standards), *ultimate meaning* (i.e., questioned whether life mattered or felt as though life had no deeper meaning), and *doubt* (i.e., felt troubled by doubts or questions about religion or spirituality; felt confused about my religious/spiritual beliefs). Items were rated on a 5-point Likert-type scale ranging from 1 (*not at all/does not apply*) to 5 (*a great deal*). The total score was used, ranging from 14-70, with higher scores (42 and above) indicating greater religious/spiritual struggles. The approximate time to complete the 14-item RSS-14 was 10 minutes.

The RSS-14 exhibited strong internal consistency; Cronbach's a for the total score was .91; the subscales were also positively correlated, with religious struggles scores ranging from .28 to .58 (Exline et al., 2014). Exline et al. (2021; N = 1,141) later found sufficient internal consistency reliability (Cronbach's a) for the condensed, 14-item version (a=.88). Exline et al. (2022; N = 1,141) again found sufficient internal consistency reliability (Cronbach's a) for the RSS-14 (i.e., *divine*, *demonic*, *interpersonal*, *moral*, *ultimate meaning*, and *doubt*) with a values ranging from .75 to .88.

Exline et al. (2014) established convergent and discriminant validity of the RSS-14 in relation to other indicators of religious/spiritual struggles. They used a 5-item measure of religious belief salience and found a significant positive correlation with religious struggles: r(1138) = .76, p < .01. Participants who endorsed some belief in a relationship with God (n=1022) completed a 9-item *instability subscale* from the Spiritual Assessment Inventory and again found a significant positive correlation (r = .88). Participants endorsing some belief in a relationship with God (n = 1022) completed the 4item *anger/disappointment subscale* of the Attitudes toward God Scale-9 and found a significant positive correlation (r = .91). Overall, the RSS-14 showed good internal consistency and evidence of convergent, discriminant, and predictive validity.

Data Analysis Plan

Once data collection was complete, the data was downloaded from the SurveyMonkey platform to the Statistical Package for Social Sciences version 28.0 for analysis. Standard regression analysis was used to determine the extent to which music activity moderated the relationship between religious struggle and social anxiety. Moderation analysis was used to assess the extent to which the moderating variable moderated the strength of relationships between independent and dependent variables. Moderation occurs when the relationship between two variables (e.g., *religious struggles* and *social anxiety*) strengthens or weakens depending on a third variable (e.g., *music* activity: 5 subscales, including playing, training, cognitive and emotional regulation, engaged production, and social connection). Five interaction terms were created by multiplying each of the five MUSEQuestionnaire subscales by a total score for religious struggles to test the moderation effect. The dependent variable (i.e., social anxiety) was then regressed on the eleven predictor variables (5 MUSE Questionnaire subscales, Religious Struggles total score, and the five interaction terms - each of the five Music Use Questionnaire subscales x religious struggles).

Moderation effects can be challenging to interpret; therefore, a graph was generated to visualize the effect. All multiple regression assumptions were evaluated in SPSS (i.e., normality, linearity, homoscedasticity, multicollinearity, and independence of residuals). Histograms and Q-Q plots tested for normality, scatterplots tested for linearity, a scatterplot of residuals tested for homoscedasticity, and multicollinearity was tested using Variance Inflation Factor values.

Research Questions and Hypotheses

RQ1: Does religious struggle predict social anxiety?

 H_01 : Religious struggle does not predict social anxiety.

 H_a 1: Religious struggle does predict social anxiety.

RQ2: Does musical activity predict social anxiety?

 H_02 : Musical activity does not predict social anxiety.

 H_a2 : Musical activity does predict social anxiety.

RQ3: Does musical activity moderate the relationship between religious struggle and social anxiety?

 H_0 3: Musical activity does not moderate the relationship between religious struggle and social anxiety.

 H_a 3: Musical activity does moderate the relationship between religious struggle and social anxiety.

Threats to Validity

The first threat to validity was self-selection bias. Using a convenience sample rather than random selection limited the sample representativeness, limiting the generalizability of the results (Etikan et al., 2016). Participant self-selection limited sample representativeness as those who chose to participate may have differed

demographically from those who do not (Copas et al., 2020). Individuals interested in participating in research may do so for different reasons. For example, it is likely that individuals experience different levels of social anxiety, where individuals who are more socially anxious may be less inclined to participate. Another threat to validity was nonresponse bias; however, SurveyMonkey was set up so that participants were not able to skip questions and would not progress until they answered all questions. Participants may have also fallen prey to the social desirability bias, which manifests when participants present themselves more favorably to be viewed by others as appropriate; however, social desirability bias is more prevalent when using interviews as participants may provide answers consistent with social norms, especially when asked about controversial topics (Larson, 2019). Maintaining anonymity and adding confidentiality assurances helped to mitigate social desirability bias.

Ethical Procedures

Before any data were collected, I received approval from Walden University's IRB. Before participants began the survey, they read an informed consent form and if they agreed to participate, they clicked the agree button. Questions about their religious experiences could have triggered painful memories causing participants to experience some discomfort; therefore anyone who experienced discomfort while completing the survey was referred to Mental Health America. The data collected did not include any identifying information and was kept secure on a password protected computer accessible only by me. Moreover, the data will be backed up on OneDrive and will be deleted after five years.

Summary

The purpose of this quantitative study was to address a gap in the literature by examining the extent to which religious struggle predicts social anxiety, the extent to which music activity predicts social anxiety, and what extent music activity moderates the relationship between religious struggles and social anxiety. The study used a crosssectional quantitative survey design. The sample included individuals who were Englishspeaking and full-time U.S. citizens between 18 and 65. The survey was administered through the SurveyMonkey survey platform. Data were analyzed using standard multiple regression and moderation analysis. All concerns regarding threats to validity and ethical considerations were discussed as well as plans to address them. Chapter 4 includes a detailed discussion of analysis and results.

Chapter 4: Results

The purpose of this quantitative study was to address a gap in literature by examining the extent to which music activity moderates the relationship between religious struggles and social anxiety in a sample of adults living in the U.S. In this chapter, research questions and hypotheses are restated, and details describing data collection, screening procedures, and recruitment are discussed. A summary of participant demographic data is also provided. Following this, results of descriptive statistics, evaluation of statistical assumptions, and results from standard multiple regression analysis are presented. The chapter ends with a summary.

Research Questions and Hypotheses

RQ1: Does religious struggle predict social anxiety?

 H_01 : Religious struggle does not predict social anxiety.

 H_a 1: Religious struggle does predict social anxiety.

RQ2: Does musical activity predict social anxiety?

 H_02 : Musical activity does not predict social anxiety.

 $H_a 2$: Musical activity does predict social anxiety.

RQ3: Does musical activity moderate the relationship between religious struggle and social anxiety?

 H_0 3: Musical activity does not moderate the relationship between religious struggle and social anxiety.

 H_a 3: Musical activity does moderate the relationship between religious struggle and social anxiety.
Data Collection

Recruitment and data collection was accomplished through a SurveyMonkey audience panel. The anonymous online survey administered through the SurveyMonkey platform began with the informed consent form, which included a description of the purpose of the study, requirements to participate, instructions on how to participate, privacy-related concerns, the voluntary nature of the study, risks and benefits of participating, and a crisis/mental health website link. To participate, individuals had to be between 18 and 65 years old and currently living in the U.S. Individuals who declined participation were directed to close their window or tab, while those who met inclusion criteria and chose to participate were told to click the agree tab at the bottom on the screen to indicate their consent. Following this, participants were directed to demographic questions related to their background, age, race, gender, marital status, and highest level of education. After demographic questions, participants completed the SAQ, MUSE Questionnaire, and RSS-14 survey instruments for social anxiety, music activity, and religious struggles. SurveyMonkey sent the survey to prospective participants. Of those recruited, 467 met inclusion criteria who chose to participate. The sample included 58.0% females, with most in the 35 to 44 (22.34%) and 45 to 54 years old range (24.6%). Of this population, 71.5% were White (71.5%), 59.3% were married, and 29.6% were college graduates. Because a convenience sample was used rather than a random sampling strategy, sample characteristics may not be fully representative of the adult population in the U.S. Therefore, results can be generalized only to adults who participated in SurveyMonkey audience panels and not all U.S. adults (see Table 1).

Table 1

General Demographics of Study Sample

Variable	N	%
Gender		
Male	191	51.1
Female	271	48.9
Other	3	0.6
Missing	2	0.4
Age		
18 - 24 years old	52	11.1
25 - 34 years old	83	17.8
35-44 years old	105	22.5
45-54 years old	115	24.6
55-64 years old	59	12.6
65+ years old	53	11.3
Missing	0	0.0
Race		
White/Caucasian	334	71.5
Black/African American	37	7.9
Hispanic/Latino	35	7.5
Asian/Asian American	47	10.1
American Indian/Alaska N	ative 3	.6
Native Hawaiian/ Other Pa	cific Islander 3	.6
Another Race	8	1.7

		63
Missing	0	0.0
Marital Status		
Single	134	28.7
Married	277	59.3
Widowed	16	3.4
Divorced	40	8.6
Missing	0	0.0
Education Level		
Did not attend school	2	.4
1st grade	2	.4
2nd grade	2	.4
3rd grade	2	.4
4th grade	1	.2
5th grade	2	.4
6th grade	1	.2
7th grade	2	.4
8th grade	2	.4
9th grade	0	0
10th grade	1	.2
11th grade	4	.9
Graduated from high school	77	16.5
1 year of college	27	5.8
2 years of college	52	11.1
3 years of college	18	3.9
Graduated from college	138	29.6
Some graduate school	19	4.1
Completed graduate school	88	18.8
Missing	27	5.8

Results

Descriptive Statistics

For the predictor variable of music activity playing, 314 participants reported having played or currently playing a musical instrument, while 153 did not play a musical instrument. The following means and standard deviations were calculated for the four other predictor variables: religious struggles (M = 29.75, SD = 14.74), music activity (cognitive/emotional regulation; M = 24.65, SD = 6.17), music activity (engaged production; M = 20.14, SD = 11.42), and music activity (social connection; M = 9.52, SD= 3.35). Means and standard deviations were also calculated for the outcome variable: social anxiety (M = 26.99, SD = 9.77). Table 2 displays the means and standard deviations for all study variables, except music activity-playing, as it was dichotomous.

Table 2

Mean,	Standard	Deviation,	and	Correl	lations	for	Study	Varia	bles
		,				,	~		

Variable	М	SD	Min	Max
Religious Struggles	29.74	14.74	16.00	74.00
Music Activity (Cognitive/Emotion	24.64	6.16	7.00	35.00
Regulation)	20.13	11.41	9.00	45.00
Music Activity (Engaged Production)	9.51	3.35	3.00	15.00
Music Activity (Social Connection)	26.99	9.77	10.00	50.00
Social Anxiety				

Based on Table 3, the religious struggles variable was significantly and positively

related to social anxiety, r(418) = .526, p < .001, $r^2 = .276$, in that higher levels of religious struggles were associated with higher levels of social anxiety.

Music activity-playing was significantly and positively related to social anxiety, $r(418) = .168, p < .001, r^2 = .028$ which means that people who play an instrument tend to have higher social anxiety. Music activity-cognitive/emotion regulation was also significantly and positively related to social anxiety, $r(418) = .381, p < .001, r^2 = .145$ which means that increased levels of music activity for the purpose of cognitive/emotional regulation was associated with increased levels of social anxiety. Music activity-engaged production was also significantly and positively related to social anxiety, $r(418) = .398, p < .001, r^2 = .158$ in that increased levels of music activityengaged production was associated with increased levels of social anxiety.

Music activity-social connection was also significantly and positively related to social anxiety, r(418) = .812, p < .001, $r^2 = .659$ which means that increased levels of music activity for the purpose of social connection was associated with increased levels of social anxiety.

The religious struggles variable was significantly and positively related to music activity-playing, r(418) = .315, p < .001, $r^2 = .099$, meaning that increased levels of religious struggles were associated with playing an instrument. Religious struggles were significantly and positively related to music activity-cognitive/emotion regulation, r(418) = .348, p < .001, $r^2 = .121$, such that higher levels of religious struggles were associated with higher levels of music activity-cognitive/emotion. Religious struggles were significantly and positively related to music activity-emotion regulation. Religious struggles were associated with higher levels of music activity-cognitive/emotion regulation. Religious struggles

.591, p < .001, $r^2 = .349$, in that increased levels of religious struggles were associated with music activity-engaged production. Religious struggles were significantly and positively related to music activity-social connection, r(418) = .812, p < .001, $r^2 = .659$, indicating that higher levels of religious struggles were associated with higher levels of music activity-social connection (see Table 3).

Table 3

Pearson r Correlations Between Study Variables

Variables	Religious Struggles	Social Anxiety
Religious Struggles		.526
Music Activity (Playing)	.315	.168
Music Activity (Cognitive/Emotion Regulation)	.348	.381
Music Activity (Engaged Production)	.591	.398
Music Activity Social Connection)	.812	.455

Note. p < .001.

Exploratory Data Analysis

Normality

Table 4 provides the results from the tests of normality, skewness values, and kurtosis values. Acceptable values of skewness fall between -3 and +3. Acceptable kurtosis values fall between -10 and +10. While the skewness and kurtosis values were in the acceptable range, the Kolmogorov-Smirnov tests for normality were significant, indicating that the assumption of normality was not met. An examination of the

histograms and normal Q-Q plots suggested that the data were acceptable and are

provided in Appendix E.

Table 4

Normality Testing for Study Variables

Variable	Statistic ^a	df	р	Skewness	Kurtosis
Music Activity-Playing	.674	466	<.001	747	-1.448
Music Activity-Cognitive/	24.611	462	<.001	497	.187
Emotion Regulation					
Music Activity-Engaged	20.645	461	<.001	.626	885
Production					
Music Activity-Social	9.480	461	<.001	285	546
Connection					
Religious Struggles	29.849	431	<.001	1.448	1.378
Social Anxiety	27.211	448	<.001	.452	175

^{a.} Kolmogorov-Smirnov test of normality.

Assumption Testing for Multiple Regression

To determine if the data met the assumptions for a multiple regression analysis, linearity, multicollinearity, homoscedasticity, and independence of residuals were assessed. Linearity was determined by examining the P-P plots and scatterplots and both showed data that appeared to be linear (see Appendix F). The social anxiety score was regressed onto the religious struggles and music activity variables to examine the tolerance and VIF statistics. For both the religious struggles and music activity subscale variables, tolerance and VIF statistics were not within acceptable ranges (5-10), as they were all above 10, indicating high levels of multicollinearity among variables. Therefore, the assumption of multicollinearity was not met. The VIF statistics are shown in Table 5.

Table 5

Variable	Tolerance	VIF
Music activity (playing)	.076	13.151
Music activity (cognitive/emotional regulation)	.090	11.112
Music activity (engaged production)	.072	13.826
Music activity (social connection)	.078	12.859
Religious struggles	.030	33.613

Collinearity Diagnostics for Predictor Variables

Linearity between independent and dependent variables was examined using scatterplots. Scatterplots demonstrating linear relationships between each independent and dependent variable are provided in Appendix F. Homoscedasticity was examined using a scatterplot of the standardized residual and standardized predicted values for the three regressions. Examination of the scatterplots indicates the variance of residuals is largely constant for all regressions. The assumption of homoscedasticity was met. To assess the independence of residuals, a Durbin-Watson test was completed. The Durbin-Watson statistic was 1.935, meeting the assumption that the residuals were independent,

because the score was close to 2.0, indicating that there was no autocorrelation detected in the sample. Multivariate outliers were examined using Mahalanobis distance. There were no significant multivariate outliers found.

Reliability of Measurements

Cronbach's alpha was computed to test the reliability of the instruments used for the current sample. Table 6 provides the Cronbach's alpha coefficients for each instrument, and each had acceptable internal consistency, ranging from .925 to .959.

Multiple Regression Analysis

To answer the research questions, the five predictor variables (one religious struggle score and four music activity scores) were multiplied by each other to create four interaction variables (religious struggles x music activity-playing, religious struggles x music activity-cognitive/emotion regulation, religious struggles x music activity-engaged production, religious struggles x music activity-social connection). Following this, the social anxiety variable was regressed onto the predictor variables (religious struggles and four music activity scores) and the four interaction variables in a standard multiple regression analysis.

The overall regression model was significant and accounted for 36.8% of the variance of the outcome variable (social anxiety), F(9,419) = 26.498, p < .001, $R^2 = .368$. Religious struggles were not statistically significant in predicting social anxiety (b = -.033, p = .830, $sr^2 = .000$); therefore, I failed to reject the null (religious struggle did not predict social anxiety). The only significant predictor of social anxiety was music activity for the purpose of cognitive/emotional regulation. Music activity for cognitive/emotion regulation was statistically significant and positive in predicting social anxiety and accounted for 10% of the variance in social anxiety (b = .551, p < .008, $sr^2 = .010$).

The other three music activity subscales (playing, engaged production, and social connection) were not significant in predicting social anxiety. Music activity-playing was not statistically significant and did not contribute to the variance in the model (b = -2.80, p < .339). Music activity-engaged production was not statistically significant and did not contribute to the variance in the model (b = -.185, p < .140). Lastly, music activity-social connection was not statistically significant and did not contribute to the variance in the model (b = -.185, p < .140). Lastly, music activity-social connection was not statistically significant and did not contribute to the variance in the model (b = -.479, p < .244). These results failed to provide support for a significant relationship; therefore, I failed to reject the null (musical activity did not predict social anxiety).

After controlling for main effects, the interaction/moderator variables were not significant in contributing to the variance in the model. Religious struggles x music activity-playing was not statistically significant and did not contribute to the variance in the model (b = .095, p < .397). Religious struggles x cognitive/emotion regulation was not statistically significant and did not contribute to the variance in the model (b = .095, p < .397). Religious struggles x cognitive/emotion regulation was not statistically significant and did not contribute to the variance in the model (b = .011, p = .130). Religious struggles x music activity-engaged production was not statistically significant and did not contribute to the variance in the model (b = .008 p = .065). Religious struggles x music activity-social connection was not statistically significant and did not contribute to the variance in the model (b = .008 p = .065).

findings, I failed to reject the null (musical activity did not moderate the relationship between religious struggle and social anxiety).

Table 6

Cronbach's Alpha	Coefficients f	for Study	Instruments
------------------	----------------	-----------	-------------

Instrument	Alpha	
Social Anxiety Questionnaire	.925	
MUSE - Engaged Production	.959	
MUSE - Social Connection	.898	
MUSE – Total	.948	
Religious Struggles Survey	.951	

Note. MUSE-Cognitive and Emotional Regulation was not included as it is a

dichotomous variable.

Table 7

ANOVA Results for Model

Mod	lel	SS	df	MS	F	R	R^{2}	р
1	Regression	14716.827	9	1635.203	26.49	.606	.368	<.001
	Residual Total	25301.163 40017.990	410 419	61.710	84			

Table 8

Model	В	SE	В	t	р	sr^2
Religious Struggles (RS)	033	.151	049	215	.830	.000
MA Playing	-2.800	2.92 4	136	-9.958	.339	.001
MA-Cognitive/Emotion Regulation	.551	.207	.348	2.658	.008	.010
MA-Engaged Production	185	.125	216	-1.478	.140	.003
MA-Social Connection	479	.411	164	-1.167	.244	.002
RS*MA-Playing	.095	.112	.199	.847	.397	.001
RS*MA-Cognitive/Emotion Regulation	011	.007	591	-1.515	.130	.003
RS*MA-Engaged Production	.008	.004	.570	1.851	.065	.005
RS*MA-Social Connection	.026	.015	.620	1.753	.080	.004

Coefficients: Prediction of Social Anxiety

Summary

Results of multiple regression analysis revealed that music activity for the purpose of cognitive and emotion regulation was a significant predictor of social anxiety but in the opposite direction of what was expected. Increased music activity for the purpose of cognitive and emotion regulation predicted higher scores for social anxiety. Music activity (playing, cognitive/emotion regulation, engaged production, and social connection) was not significant in terms of moderating the relationship between religious struggles and social anxiety. Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations

The purpose of this study was to examine the extent to which music activity moderates the relationship between religious struggles and social anxiety in a sample of adults living in the U.S. Social anxiety is the sixth leading cause of disability and associated with unemployment, poor quality of life, and suicidal ideation (Leichsenring & Leweke, 2017; Yuan et al., 2021). Social anxiety is also the third most common mental disorder and most common anxiety disorder (Rose & Tadi, 2021). There is a predictive relationship between religious struggles and social anxiety, specifically among individuals who have departed from a religion, meaning that with increased levels of religious struggles, there would be increased levels of social anxiety (Fennell, 1997; Heeran et al., 2020; McBeath & Greenlees, 2016; Wentling & Behrens, 2018). Because music activity reduces stress and anxiety, especially among trauma victims, I investigated the potential for music activity to influence the relationship between religious struggles and social anxiety.

To answer this study's research questions, a quantitative nonexperimental correlational survey design was used to examine the extent to which religious struggles (IV) predicted social anxiety (DV), the extent to which music activity (IV) predicted social anxiety (DV), and the extent to which music activity (IV) moderated the relationship between religious struggles (IV) and social anxiety (DV). The SurveyMonkey platform was used to administer online surveys to adults between 18 and 65 living in the U.S. Standard multiple regression analysis revealed that only music activity (i.e., listening to music for the purpose of cognitive/emotional regulation) was significant in terms of predicting social anxiety in that music caused participants to have more anxiety. This is opposite from the prediction of music activity to mitigating these symptoms. Music activity did not moderate the relationship between religious struggles and social anxiety. In this chapter, interpretations of research findings are discussed, followed by limitations of the study, recommendations for future research, and implications for positive social change.

Interpretation of the Findings

Religious Struggles and Social Anxiety

Religious struggle was not a significant predictor of social anxiety. Ano and Vasconcelles (2005) described how religious individuals, while they may experience increased religious struggles, they also use religious coping strategies, such as benevolent religious reappraisals (prayer), and collaborative religious coping (worship), which might mitigate symptoms of social anxiety. They included that many religious individuals view their struggles as pathways on the road toward growth, which is consistent with many religious traditions that struggle is typically followed by and sometimes necessary for growth. That religious struggle is a path toward individual growth, and this study did not measure ex-religious members, might contribute to the explanation as to why I did not find a significant positive relationship between religious struggles and social anxiety.

Music Activity and Social Anxiety

While three of the music activity subscales were not significant in terms of predicting social anxiety (i.e., *playing*, *engaged production*, and *social connection*), music activity for the purpose of cognitive and emotion regulation was significant in

terms of predicting social anxiety, but not in the predicted direction which was to predict decreased levels of social anxiety. This finding, although unexpected, is consistent with other research showing that unhealthy music use, including deleterious music listening behaviors resulted in increased social anxiety and worsening moods (Silverman, 2021). Deleterious music-listening behaviors were common where participants reported unhealthy music use, and for these individuals, listening to music resulted in increased social anxiety. Silverman (2021) noted listening to music may reinforce negative emotions, depending on the type of music that people choose. For some individuals, sad and melancholy music may be a positive coping strategy in certain situations, but for others it may reinforce maladaptive attitudes and beliefs that can lead to or exacerbate feelings of anxiety and depression. That social anxiety levels may increase as a result of type of music being listened to might explain why a positive relationship was observed between listening to music for the purpose of cognitive/emotional regulation and increased social anxiety, however this is conjecture, given that my data did not include music type.

Music activity, while expected to regulate emotions, in certain situations resulted in increased anxiety, especially when coupled with a tendency to use expressive suppression (consciously stifling one's reflexive behavioral expressions of emotions, such as holding back tears or laughter) as a means of emotion regulation (Chin & Rickard, 2014). Additionally, when expectations are unmet, symptoms of anxiety may increase. In 2023, Zhou observed that expectation correlated moderately with employment anxiety (r = 0.574, p < 0.01), and that expectation explained 40.03% of the variance in anxiety levels among Chinese vocational art college students ($\gamma = 0.54$, p < 0.001). Culatta and Clay-Warner (2021) also found that falling behind one's own expectations is positively associated with anxiety (b = 0.076, p < .05).

Music Activity as a Moderator of the Relationship Between Religious Struggle and Social Anxiety.

Music activity was not a significant moderator of the relationship between religious struggle and social anxiety.

Theory of Emotion Regulation

Music activity typically results in lower anxiety (Chin & Rickard, 2012; Contreras-Molina et al., 2021). I predicted that music activity would moderate the relationship between religious struggles and social anxiety; however, there was no moderating effect found. There was, however, a significant and positive relationship between music activity (i.e., listening to music for the purpose of cognitive/emotion regulation) and social anxiety. Music listening was positively related to social anxiety, in that increased music listening was associated with increased social anxiety, especially when a person used expressive suppression for emotion control purposes (Chin & Rickard, 2014). Using music in a maladaptive manner with the expectation of emotional control was a significant predictor not only of increased social anxiety, but other negative psychological outcomes such as denial, behavioral disengagement, and self-blame (Culatta & Clay-Warner, 2021; Kroenke & Jackson, 1997; Silverman, 2021; Zhou, 2023).

Limitations of the Study

Using a convenience sampling strategy limited both the representativeness of the sample and the generalizability of the findings. Because this study was limited to U.S. adults living in the U.S. between 18 and 65, results cannot be generalized beyond this population. Using no compensation or incentives may have limited not only the number of participants. Individuals who chose not to participate may have differed demographically and in disposition compared to those who chose to participate, which may have resulted in different findings. Additionally, there is no way to confirm the truthfulness of participant responses to self-report questionnaires, nor can qualification criteria be confirmed. Screening questions were used to minimize these threats. Social desirability bias may limit truthfulness of participants' responses, prompting them instead to present themselves in the most favorable light; this is especially likely when participants are reluctant to disclose sensitive information (Borsari & Carey, 2006; Durkin et al., 2005). To mitigate this, participants were reminded that no identifying information was collected, and all responses are anonymous. Additionally, participants were told that they could exit surveys at any time without penalty. The short amount of time that participants spent to complete the survey may have limited reliability of participant responses; as reported in Chapter 3, it was estimated that surveys collectively took approximately 35 minutes to complete. The actual average time to complete the study was 4 minutes, suggesting that participants moved quickly through responses rather than giving them serious consideration.

Another potential limitation was the focus on religious struggles rather than religious trauma, arguably a different construct entirely. Religious struggles describe the ongoing religious-based issues faced by individuals presently participating in an organized religion (McBeath & Greenless, 2016). These struggles, including feelings of being punished or abandoned by God, guilt over not being able to live righteously enough, questioning the meaning of life, and interpreting basic struggles as the work of the devil, can lead to increased anxiety (McBeath & Greenless, 2016).

Religious trauma syndrome, which was the focus of the chapter 2 literature review, is recognized by some psychologists as a range of symptoms akin to PTSD (Cashwell & Swindle, 2018). Unlike religious struggles, religious trauma is faced by individuals as they leave, or have left, authoritarian religions and includes an array of long-term psychological consequences (e.g., fear, anger, depression, loss of self, and social anxiety (Cashwell & Swindle, 2018; McBeath & Greenlees, 2016; Winell, 2016). Very few studies have described how members of certain high-demand religious groups use fear-based doctrines and guilt tactics to control the minds and thoughts of their congregants, making them susceptible to a form of mind control (Cashwell & Swindle, 2018). Similarly, many ex-members have reported feeling blind to the traumatic effects while practicing their religion, citing a loss of identity and self-doubt that often result in feelings of social anxiety and social inadequacy upon their departure (McBeath & Greenlees, 2016). While religious struggle is a component of religious trauma, the only instrument that measured religious trauma, per the literature review, had not yet been tested for reliability and validity. Consequently, I used a measure of religious struggles that captured some, but not all, aspects of religious trauma.

And, finally, using an instrument that focused primarily on music activitylistening rather than music activity-playing, may have limited the information I was able to collect. Listening to music, even with the intent to control one's emotions, does not always have the desired effect (Chin & Rickard; 2014; Silverman, 2021). Other research has shown the unique benefits of playing or creating music on anxiety reduction (Schneider et al., 2019). The instrument I used focused primarily on music listening; had more detailed information about music playing been solicited, the relationship to social anxiety may have been different.

Recommendations

Little is known about the potential for music activity to moderate the relationship between religious struggles and social anxiety. This study attempted to address that gap. Given the well-documented benefit of music activity on PTSD symptoms, it would be advantageous to look at the impact of music activity on clinical subpopulations such as combat veterans, refugees, prisoners, victims of war, victims of abuse.

Raine and Kent (2019) described the grooming and brainwashing that some experience while involved in organized religion and that, once they have left, may experience long-term trauma. This lasting trauma produces symptoms like PTSD and is associated with increased mental health problems, including social anxiety (Kauffman, 2002). Because individuals who leave organized religion may experience trauma that manifests in social anxiety, it would be advantageous to focus future research on exreligious members rather than those still engaged in religious practice, as studies have found that the nature of their religious struggle may differ (McBeath & Greenlees, 2016). Finally, given that studies have documented the positive influence of music playing on social anxiety, future research may investigate the moderating effect of music playing on the relationship between religious trauma and social anxiety (Dingle et al., 2021; Kauffman, 2002; Raine & Kent, 2019; Sumakul et al., 2020).

Implications for Social Change

Social anxiety continues to pose a significant threat to the social, economic, educational, and emotional well-being of many U.S adults, making the need to address these issues urgent (Leichsenring & Leweke, 2017; Jystad et al., 2021; Yuan et al., 2021). Associated with school truancy, learning difficulties, and unemployment, social anxiety can also impact individuals' career trajectories (Jystad et al., 2021). As the third most common mental disorder, and the most common anxiety disorder (Rose & Tadi, 2021), research suggests that religious trauma (e.g., lingering feelings of doubt, shame, fear, or judgment) may be related to social anxiety (Fennell, 1997; Heeran et al., 2020; McBeath & Greenlees, 2016; Wentling & Behrens, 2018). While traditional treatment options for social anxiety have followed a more traditional approach, using psychotherapy, antidepressants, and cognitive/behavioral therapy (Bruffaerts et al., 2022), recent research suggests that playing an instrument or singing may have unique effects on one's mental health, including the capacity to reduce anxiety, stress, pain, and depression (Landis-Shack et al., 2017; Rohilla et al., 2018; Wentling & Behrens, 2018). The intent of this study was to determine if music activity influenced the relationship between religious struggle and social anxiety. Although findings from this study did not support that, the current literature documents sufficient evidence to warrant the potential for music activity to mitigate symptoms of social anxiety, stress, and depression associated with religious trauma.

Additional research points to the unique benefits of either playing an instrument or singing on mental health, indicating a capacity for enhancing the recovery process from religious trauma by reducing social anxiety. To effect positive social change, the need to understand the implications of music activity-playing on social anxiety related to religious struggles persists.

Theory of Emotion Regulation

More than 25 years of research has utilized the theory of emotion regulation to explain how individuals regulate their emotions in various settings and with varied stimuli, namely through cognitive reappraisal or expressive suppression. This study failed to extend this body of research. Notwithstanding the failure to find a moderating effect of music activity on the relationship between religious struggles and social anxiety, findings from the current study did indicate that music activity for the purpose of cognitive regulation resulted in increased social anxiety, which is consistent with research showing that music listening may increase social anxiety due to maladaptive music behaviors (e.g., isolating, ruminating, or suppressing), using expressive suppression for emotion control purposes, or to unmet expectations for music providing relief from social anxiety symptoms. Gross (1998) explained that a cognitive reappraisal strategy for emotion regulation can lead to decreased anxiety and Valizadeh et al. (2021) reported that playing an instrument or singing can improve emotion regulation through a unique cognitive reappraisal process that occurs organically while playing music. To extend what is known about emotion regulation theory, future research should examine the degree to which individual emotion regulation style (cognitive reappraisal vs. expressive suppression), as well as the method (listening vs. playing) and purpose (e.g., to stimulate or calm) of engaging with music may influence symptoms of social anxiety associated with religious trauma.

Conclusion

The purpose of this study was to examine the relationship between religious struggles and social anxiety and the potential moderating effect of music activity on that relationship; this result was not found. The only significant finding was for the relation between music activity (i.e., listening to music for the purpose of cognitive/emotion regulation) social anxiety, but not in the predicted direction. This was likely due to maladaptive music listening behavior, expressive suppression used to control emotions, and/or any unmet expectations for music providing relief from social anxiety.

As social anxiety continues to impact how American adults interact, work, and live, a closer look at the potential for playing music, together with effective emotion control strategies, to mitigate the long-term effects of religious trauma, is warranted.

References

- Abeditehrani, H., Dijk, C., Neyshabouri, M.D., & Arntz, A. (2021). Beneficial effects of role reversal in comparison to role-playing on negative cognitions about other's judgments for social anxiety disorder. *Journal of Behavior Therapy and Experimental Psychiatry*, 70. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbtep.2020.101599</u>
- Aguinis, Beaty, Boik & Pierce (2005). Effect size and power in assessing moderating effects of categorical variables using multiple regression: a 30-year review. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *90*(1), 94.
- Alkahtani, Z.M., Zakirulla, M., Alshehri, E.S., Alqahtani, A.M. & Alshehri, M.M. (2020). The effect of music on children's anxiety during dental treatment. *Journal* of Research in Medical and Dental Science, 8(3), 39-43.
- An, D., & Kochanska, G. (2021). Theory of mind as a mechanism that accounts for the continuity or discontinuity of behavioral inhibition: A developmentally informed model of risk for social anxiety. *Research on Child and Adolescent Psychopathology*, 49(10), 1333-1344 <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10802-021-00831-y</u>
- Ano, G.G., & Vasconcelles, E.B. (2005). Religious coping and psychological adjustment to stress: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Clinical Psychology* 61(4), 461-480.
- Asher, M., & Aderka, I.M. (2021). How real do you feel? Self- and partner authenticity in social anxiety disorder. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 130(2), 166-176. <u>https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1037/abn0000622.supp</u>
- Asher, M., Hofmann, S.G., & Aderka, I.M. (20210. I'm not feeling it: Momentary experiential avoidance and social anxiety among individuals with social anxiety

disorder. Behavior Therapy, 52(1), 183-194.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.beth.2020.04.001

- Aslan, M.F., & Bilgin, O. (2020). Investigation of the relationship between wellbeing, social anxiety and self-regulation skills in adolescents. *International Journal of Progressive Education*, 16(6), 283-295. <u>https://doi-</u> org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.29329/ijpe.2020.280.17
- Aune, T., Juul, E.M., Beidel, D.C., Nordahl, H.M. & DVorak, R.D. (2021). Mitigating adolescent social anxiety symptoms: the effects of social support and social selfefficacy in findings from the Young-HUNT 3 study. *European Child & Adolescent Psychiatry 30*(3), 441-449.
- Aurora, P., & Coifman, K.G. (2021). Unpacking social avoidance and substance use in social anxiety: Does extraversion explain behavior variability? *Journal of Psychopathology and Behavioral Assessment*, 43(2), 2810292. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10862-020-09844-1
- Baker, S.L., Heinrichs, N., Kim, H.J., & Hofmann, S.G. (2002). The Liebowitz social anxiety scale as a self-report instrument: a preliminary psychometric analysis. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 40(6), 701-715.
- Bandelow, B., & Michaelis, S. (2015). Epidemiology of anxiety disorders in the 21st century. *Dialogues in Clinical Neuroscience*, 17(3), 327-335.
- Barańczuk, U. (2018). Emotion regulation mediates the effects of temperament traits and posttraumatic stress disorder symptoms on affect in motor vehicle accident survivors. *Transportation Research Part F: Psychology and Behaviour, 58,* 528-

535. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1016/j.trf.2018.06.035

- Barber, L.F., Gross, J., Christensen, T.C., & Benvenuto, M. (2001). Knowing what you're feeling and knowing what to do about it: Mapping the relationship between emotion differentiation and emotion regulation. *Cognition & Emotion 15*(6), 713-724
- Barnett, M.D., Maciel, I.V., Johnson, D.M. & Ciepluch, I. (2021). Social Anxiety and perceived social support: Gender differences and the mediating role of communication styles. *Psychological Reports*, 124(1), 70-87. <u>https://doiorg.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1177/0033294119900975</u>
- Bates, G. W., Elphinstone, B., & Whitehead, R. (2021). Self-compassion and emotional regulation as predictors of social anxiety. *Psychology and Psychotherapy: Theory, Research and Practice*, 94(3), 426-442. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/papt.12318</u>
- Berg, S.K., Bedwell, J.S., Dvorak, R.D., & Tone, E.B. (2021). Higher social anxiety severity predicts better cognitive empathy performance in women but now men. *Psychological Reports*, 124(6), 2549-2566.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0033294120965496

- Belland, L., Rivera-Reyes, L., & Hwang, U. (2017). Using music to reduce anxiety among older adults in the emergency department: a randomized pilot study. *Journal of Integrative Medicine*, *15*(6), 450-455. <u>https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1016/S2095-4964(17)60341-8</u>
- Bibb, J., Castle, D., & Skewes-McFerran, K. (2019). Reducing anxiety through music therapy at an outpatient eating disorder recovery service. *Journal of Creativity in*

Mental Health, 14(3), 306-314. https://doi-

org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1080/15401383.2019.1595804

- Bică, A., Crețu, R. Z., & Podina, I. R. (2021). Money versus social rank: An empirical investigation of unfairness in social anxiety. *Cognitive Therapy and Research*, 45(4), 642-651. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10608-020-10188-z</u>
- Bradt, J., Bradt, J., Dileo, C., & Potvin, N. (2009). Music for stress and anxiety reduction in coronary heart disease patients. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews, 12*.
- Bravo, M. A., Lecomte, T., Corbière, M., & Heeren, A. (2019). Psychometric properties of the French version of the social anxiety questionnaire for adults. *International Journal of Psychology and Psychological Therapy*, 19(1), 101-110.
- Brenner, P.S. (2016). Cross-national trends in religious service attendance. *Public Opinion Quarterly*, 80(2), 563-583. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/poq/nfw016</u>
- Bridges, L.J. & Grolnick, W.S. (1995). The development of emotional self-regulation in infancy and early childhood. *Social Development*. 15: 185-211.
- Brink, T.L., & Bekhuis, T. (2021). Measurement of religiosity. Salem press encyclopedia of health.

https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&AuthType=shib&db=ers&A N=93872093&site=eds-live&scope=site&custid=s6527200

Bruffaerts, R., Harris, M.G., Kazdin, A. E., Vigo, D.V., Sampson, N.A., Chiu, W.T., & Kessler, R. (2022). Perceived helpfulness of treatment for social anxiety disorder: findings from the WHO World Mental Health Survey. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 1-17.

- Buckner, J.D., Zvolensky, M.J., & Lewis, E.M. (2020). Smoking and social anxiety: The role of false safety behaviors. *Cognitive Behaviour Therapy*, 49(5), 374-384. <u>https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1080/16506073.2019.1696396</u>
- Butler, E. A., Egloff, B., Wilhelm, F.H., Smith, N.C., Erikson, E.A., & Gross, J.J. (2003).The social consequences of expressive suppression. *Emotion*, *3*, 48-67.
- Butler, R.M., O'Day, E.B., & Heimberg, R.G. (2021). The benefits of a longer course of cognitive behavioral therapy for some patients with social anxiety disorder.
 Cognitive Behavior Therapy, 50(5), 351-365. <u>https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1080/16506073.2020.1829027</u>

Byrne, S.P., Fogle, B.M., Asch, R., Esterlis, I., Harpaz-Rotem, I., Tsai, J., & Pietrzak,
R.H. (2021). The hidden burden of social anxiety disorder in US military
veterans: Results from the National Health and Resilience in Veterans Study. *Journal of Affective Disorders, 291*, 9-14.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2021.04.088

- Caballo, V.E., Arias, B., Salazar, I.C., Irurtia, M.J., & Hofmann, S.G. (2015).
 Psychometric Properties of an Innovative Self-Report Measure: The Social
 Anxiety Questionnaire for Adults. *Psychological Assessment, 27*(3), 997-1012.
 <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0038828</u>
- Caballo, V.E., Salazar, I.C., Irurtia, M.J., Arias, B., & Hofmann, S.G. (2010). Social Anxiety Questionnaire for Adults. *PsycTESTS*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/t01344-</u>000

Caballo, V.E., Salazar, I.C., Irurtia, M.J., Arias, Hofmann, S.G., & the CISO-A Research

Team (2010a). Measuring social anxiety in 11 countries: Development and validation of the Social Anxiety Questionnaire for Adults. *European Journal of Psychological Assessment*, 26, 95-107.

- Cashwell, C.S., & Swindle, P.J. (2018). When religion hurts: Supervising cases of religious abuse. *The Clinical Supervisor*, *37*(1), 182-203.
- Castaño, Á., Bélanger, J.J., & Moyano, M. (2021). Cult conversion from the perspective of families: Implications for prevention and psychological intervention. *Psychology of Religion and Spirituality*.
- Chen, J., Short, M., & Kemps, E. (2020). Interpretation bias in social anxiety: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 276, 1119-1130. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1016/j.jad.2020.07.121
- Chin, T., & Rickard, N.S. (2012). The music use (MUSE) questionnaire: An instrument to measure engagement in music. *Music Perception*, 29(4), 429-446.
- Chin, T., & Rickard, N.S. (2014). Emotion regulation strategy mediates both positive and negative relationships between music uses and well-being. *Psychology of Music*, 42(5), 692-713. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0305735613489916</u>
- Chiu, K., Clark, D.M., & Leigh, E. (2021). Cognitive predictors of adolescent social anxiety. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 137. <u>https://doiorg.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1016/j.brat.2020.103801</u>
- Chiu, K., Clark, D.M., & Leigh, E. (2021). Prospective associations between peer functioning and social anxiety in adolescents: A systematic review and metaanalysis. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 279, 650-661. <u>https://doi-</u>

org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1016/j.jad.2020.10.055

Christ, N.M., Elhai, J.D., Fordes, C.N., Gratz, K.L., & Tull, M.T. (2021). A machine learning approach to modeling PTSD and difficulties in emotion regulation. *Psychiatry Research, 297.* <u>https://doi-</u>

org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2021.113712

- Cloutier, R.M., Anderson, K.G., Kearns, N.T., Carey, C.N., & Blumenthal, H. (2021). An experimental investigation of peer rejection and social anxiety on alcohol and cannabis use willingness: Accounting for social contexts and use cues in the laboratory. *Psychology of Addictive Behaviors, 35*(8).
 https://doi.org/10.1037/adb0000711
- Cole, P.M., Michel, M.K., & Teti, L.O. (1994). The development of emotion regulation and dysregulation: A clinical perspective. *Monographs of the Society for Research in Child Development*. 59 (²/₃):73-100.
- Conrad, R., Forstner, A.J., Chung, M.L., Mücke, M., Geiser, F., Schumacher, J., & Carnehl, F. (2021). Significance of anger suppression and preoccupied attachment in social anxiety disorder: a cross-sectional study. *BMC Psychiatry*, 21(1), 116. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12888-021-03098-1

Constantinou, E., Georgiou, D., Karekla, M., & Panayiotou, G. (2021). Subjective distress and physiological reactivity during anxiety-evoking imagery in social anxiety. *Personality and individual Differences*, 182. <u>https://doiorg.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1016/j.paid.2021.111095</u>

Contreras-Molina, M., Rudea-Núñez, A., Pérez-Collado, M. L., & García-Maestro, A.

(2021). Effect of music therapy on anxiety and pain in the critical polytraumatized patient. *Enfermería Intensiva (English Ed.)*, *32*(2), 79–87. <u>https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1016/j.enfie.2020.03.005</u>

Cordier, R., Speyer, R., Mahoney, N., Arnesen, A., Mjelve, L.H., & Nyborg, G. (2021).
 Effects of interventions for social anxiety and shyness in school-aged children: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *PLoS ONE*, *16*(7).
 <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0254117</u>

- Craske, M.G., Treanor, M., Conway, C.C., Zbozinez, T., & Vervliet, B. (2014). Maximizing exposure therapy: An inhibitory learning approach. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 58, 10-23.
- Cui, L., Dong, X., & Zhang, S. (2021). ERP evidence for emotional sensitivity in social anxiety. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 279(361-367. <u>https://doiorg.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1016/j.jad.2020.09.111</u>
- Culatta, E., & Clay-Warner, J. (2021). Falling behind and feeling bad: Unmet expectations and mental health during the transition to adulthood. *Society and Mental Health*, 11(3), 251-265.
- Dai, W.S., Huang, S., Xu, N., Chen, Q. & Cao, H. (2020). The effect of music therapy on pain, anxiety and depression in patients after coronary artery bypass grafting.
 Journal of Cardiothoracic Surgery, 15(1), 1-5. <u>https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1186/s13019-020-01141-y</u>
- De Berail, P., Guillon, M., & Bungener, C. (2019). The relations between YouTube addiction, social anxiety and parasocial relationships with YouTubers; A

moderated-mediation model based on a cognitive-behavioral framework.

Computers in Human Behaviour, 99, 190-204.

- Dell, A.L. (2021). Impact of music on anxiety and pain perception among men undergoing prostate biopsy: Synthesis of qualitative literature. *Complementary Therapies in Clinical Practice, 43*. <u>https://doi-</u> org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1016/j.ctcp.2021.101330
- de Witte, M., Pinho, A.D., Stams, G.J., Moonen, X., Bos, A.E., van Hooren, S. (2022).
 Music therapy for stress reduction: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Health Psychology Review*, 16(1) 134-159.
- Dickey, L., Pegg, S., & Kujawa, A. (2021). Neurophysiological responses to interpersonal emotional images: Associations with symptoms of depression and social anxiety. *Cognitive, Affective & Behavioral Neuroscience, 21*(6), 1306-1318.
- Dingle, G., Sharman, L.S., Bauer, Z., Beckman, E., Broughton, M., Bunzli, E., Davidson, R., Draper, G. Fairley, F., Farrell, C., Flynn, L.M., Gomersall, S., Hong, M., Larwood, J., Lee, C., Lee, J., Nitschinsk, L., Peluso, N., Reedman, S.E. & Wright, O.R. (2021). How do music activity affect health and wellbeing? A scoping review of studies examining psychosocial mechanisms. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *12*. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.713818
- Doorley, J.D., Goodman, F.R., Disabato, D.J., Kashdan, T.B., Weinstein, J.S., & Shackman, A.J. (2021). The momentary benefits of positive events for individuals with elevated social anxiety. *Emotion*, 21(3), 595-606. <u>https://doi-</u>

org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1037/emo0000725.supp

- Dong, B., Zhao, F., Ww, X., Wang, W., Li, Y., Zhang, Z., & Sun, Y. (2019). Social anxiety may modify the relationship between internet addiction and its determining factors in Chinese adolescence. *International Journal of Mental Health & Addiction, 17*(6), 1508-1520. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11469-018-9912-X</u>
- Dragulin, S., Constantin, F.A., & Rucsanda, I. (2019). The muse of music therapy for adults' anxiety relief. 2019 5th Experiment International Conference (Exp. at '19), 490-493.
- Dursun, B.M., Akyel, S., Şen, S., Karacan, Ç., Çapa, T.B., Gokbekl, T., Tasoren, Y., &
 Dursun, E. (2016). Development of a music therapy project in a neurological
 rehabilitation setting in Turkey. *Proceedings of the International Future-Learning Conference on Innovations in Learning for the Future: E-Learning*, 59.
- Dutcher, C.D., Dowd, S.M., Zalta, A.K., Taylor, D.J., Rosenfield, D., Perrone, A., Otto, M.W., Pollack, M.H., Hofmann, S.G., & Smits, J.A. (2021). Sleep quality and outcome of exposure therapy in adults with social anxiety disorder. *Depression and Anxiety*, 38(11), 1182-1190. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/da.23167</u>
- Dyar, C., Dworkin, E.R., Pirog, S., & Kaysen, D. (2021). Social interaction anxiety and perceived coping efficacy: Mechanisms of the association between minority stress and drinking consequences among sexual minority women. *Addictive Behaviors*, *114*. <u>https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1016/j.addbeh.2020.106718</u>

Egenti, N.T., Ede, M.O., Nwokenna, E.N., Oforka, T., Nwokeoma, B.N., Mezieobi, D.I.,

& Victor-Aigbodion, V. (2019). Randomized controlled evaluation of the effect of music therapy with cognitive behavioral therapy on social anxiety symptoms. *Medicine*, 98(32).

- Ekman, P., Friesen, W.V., Ancoli, S. (1980). Facial signs of emotional experience. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 39(6), 1125-1134.
- Elemo, A.S., & Türküm, A.S. (2021). The Liebowitz social anxiety scale (LSAS):
 Psychometric properties of the Amharic version in Ethiopian university student sample. *International Journal of Mental Health and Addiction*.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s11469-020-00475-x
- Evan, R., Chiu, K., Clark, D.M., Waite, P., & Leigh, E. (2021). Safety behaviours in social anxiety: An examination across adolescence. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 144. <u>https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1016/j.brat.2021.103931</u>
- Exline, J.J., Pargament, K.I., Grubbs, J.B., & Yali, A.M. (2014). Religious and Spiritual Struggles Scale. *PsycTESTS*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/t36191-000</u>
- Exline, J.J., Pargament, K.I., Grubbs, J.B., & Yali, A.M. (2014). The Religious and Spiritual Struggles Scale: Development and Initial Validation. *Psychology of Religion and Spirituality*, 6(3), 208-222. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0036465</u>
- Exline, J.J., Pargament, K.I., Wilt, J.A., Grubbs, J.B., & Yali, A.M. (2022). The RSS-14: development and preliminary validation of a 14-item form of the Religious and Spiritual Struggles Scale. *Psychology of Religion and Spirituality*. https://doi.org/10.1037/rel0000472.supp (Supplemental)

Faul, Y., & Li, Z. (2020). Empirical analysis on the intervention of music therapy on

mental health of college students. *Revista Argentina de Clínica Psicológica*, 29(2), 1272-1281.

Fennell, M.J. (1997). Low self-esteem: A cognitive perspective. *Behavioral and Cognitive Psychotherapy*, 25(1), 1-26.

Forni dos Santos, L., Loureiro, S.R., Crippa, J.A., & Osório, F. (2013). Psychometric validation study of the Liebowitz social anxiety scale - self reported version for Brazilian Portuguese. *PloS one*, 8(7), e70235.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0070235

Fradelos, E.C., Alikari, V., Vus, V., Papathanasiou, I.V., Tsaras, K., Tzavella, F., & Lekka, D. (2020). Assessment of the relation between religiosity, anxiety, depression and psychological resilience in nursing staff. *Health Psychology Research*, 8(1).

Frijda, N.H. (1987). The emotions. New York, NY: Cambridge University Press.

Fritz, N., & Höpflinger, A.K. (2020). You need a big god: Fascinating interaction between music and religion. *Journal for Religion, Film and Media*, 6(2), 7-14. <u>https://doi.org/10.25364/05.6:2020.2.1</u>

Giordano, F., Zanchi, B., De Leonardis, F., Rutigliano, C., Esposito, F., Brienza, N., & Santoro, N. (2020). The influence of music therapy on preoperative anxiety in pediatric oncology patients undergoing invasive procedures. *The Arts in Psychotherapy*, 68. <u>https://doi-</u>

org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1016/j.aip.2020.101649

Goodman, F.R., Kelso, K.C., Wiernik, B.M., & Kashdan, T.B. (2021). Social

comparisons and social anxiety in daily life: An experience-sampling approach. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, *130*(5), 468-489.

- Goodwin, R.D., Weinburger, A.H., Kim, J.H., Wu., M., & Galea, S. (2020). Trends in anxiety among adults in the United States, 2008-2018: Rapid increases among young adults. *Journal of psychiatric research*, 130, 441-446.
- Gross, J.J. (1998). Antecedent and response focused emotion regulation: Divergent consequences for experience expression and physiology. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 74, 224-237.
- Gross, J.J. (1998). The emerging field of emotion regulation: An integrative review. *Review of General Psychology*, 2(3), 271-299.
- Gross, J.J. (1999). Emotion regulation: Past, present, future. *Cognition & emotion*, *13*(5), 551-573.
- Gross, J.J. (Ed.). (2013). Handbook of Emotion Regulation. Guilford publications.
- Gross, J.J., & John, O.P. (2003). Individual differences in two emotion regulation processes: Implications for affect, relationships, and well-being. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 85, 348-362.
- Gutiérrez, E.O. & Camarena, V.A. (2015). Music therapy in generalized anxiety disorder.
 The Arts in Psychotherapy, 44, 19-24. <u>https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1016/j.aip.2015.02.003</u>
- Harold, G., & Linda, K.G. (1993). Religion and anxiety disorder: An examination and comparison of association in young, middle-aged, and elderly adults. *Journal of Anxiety*, 7, 321-342.

- Haselgruber, A., Knefel, M., Sölva, K., & Lueger-Schuster, B. (2021). Foster children's complex psychopathology in the context of cumulative childhood trauma: The interplay of ICD-11 complex PTSD, dissociation, depression, and emotion regulation. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 282, 372-380. <u>https://doi-</u> org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1016/j.jad.2020.12.116
- Heeran, A., Bernstein, E.E., & McNally, R.J. (2020). Bridging maladaptive social selfbeliefs and social anxiety: A network perspective. *Journal of Anxiety disorders*, 74. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.janxdis.2020.102267
- Heimberg, R.G., & Butler, R.M. (2018). Research on social anxiety disorder continues to escalate: A commentary on Asmundson and Asmindson's analysis of publication trends in the anxiety disorders. *Journal of Anxiety Disorders*, 56, 8-10.
- Heise, D.R., & Bohrnstedt, G.W. (1970). Validity, invalidity, and reliability. Sociological methodology, 2, 104-129.
- Henricks, L.A., Pouwels, J.L., Lansu, T.A., Lange, W., Becker, E.S., & Klein, A.M.
 (2021). Prospective associations between social status and social anxiety in early adolescence. *British Journal of Developmental Psychology*, *39*(3), 462-480. https://doi.org/10.1111/bjdp.12374
- Herreo, E.M., Singer, N., Ferrari, L., McPhee, M., Zatorre, R., & Ripolles, P. (2020).
 Rock'n'roll but not sex or drugs: music is negatively correlated to depressive symptoms during the COVID-19 pandemic via reward-related mechanisms. *Mental Health Weekly Digest*, 116.

Herring, M.P., Gordon, B.R., McDowell, C.P., Quinn, L.M., & Lyons, M. (2021).
Physical activity and analogue anxiety disorder symptoms and status: Mediating influence of social physique anxiety. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 282, 511-516. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2020.12.163</u>

- Hertsgaard, D., & Light, H. (1984). Anxiety, depression, and hostility in rural women. *Psychological Reports*, 55(2), 673-674.
- Hill, T.D., Zeng, L., Rambotti, S., Mossakowski, K.N., & Johnson, R.J. (2021). Sad eyes, crooked crosses: Religious struggles, psychological distress and the mediating role of psychosocial resources. *Journal of Religion and Health*, 60(4), 2573-2591.
- Holder, L.J., Prasad, A., Han, J., Torok, M., & Wong, Q.J. (2021). Shifting as a key executive function underlying cognitive restructuring for individuals with elevated social anxiety. *Psychology and Psychotherapy: Theory, Research and Practice*, 94(2), 217-230. https://doi.org/10.1111/papt.12301
- Hur, J., DeYoung, K.A., Islam, S., Anderson, A.S., Barstead, M.G., & Shackman, A.J. (2020). Social context and the real-world consequences of social anxiety. *Psychological Medicine*, 50(12), 1989-2000. <u>https://doi-</u>org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1017/S0033291719002022
- Ikeda, S. (2020). Social anxiety enhances sensitivity to negative transition and eye region of facial expression. *Personality and Individual Differences, 163*.
- Janů, A., Malinakova, K., Kosarkova, A., & Tavel, P. (2022). Associations of childhood struggle experiences with religious and spiritual struggles. *Journal of Health Psychology*, 27(2), 292-304. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1359105320950793</u>

Jensen, J.L., Manwaring, K.F., Gill, R.A., Sudweeks, R.S., Davies, R.S., Olsen, J.A., ...&

Bybee, S.M. (2019). Religious affiliation and religiosity and their impact on scientific beliefs in the United States. *Bio*Science, 69(4), 292-304.

- Ji, H., & Lü, W. (2021). Childhood abuse and social anxiety symptoms among young adults: Moderating role fo respiratory sinus arrhythmia suppression to social stress. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 117. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2021.105118</u>
- Johnson, A.A., Berry, A., Bradley, M., Daniell, J.A., Lugo, C., Schaum-Comegys, K., Villamero, C., Williams, K., Yi, H., Scala, E., & Whalen, M. (2021). Examining the effects of music-based interventions on pain and anxiety in hospitalized children: An integrative review. *Journal of Pediatric Nursing* 60, 71-76.
- Jones, A.E., & Elliott, M. (2017). Examining social desirability in measures of religions and spirituality using the bogus pipeline. *Review of Religious Research*, 59, 47-64.
- Jystad, I., Bjerkeset, O., Haugan, T., Sund, E.R., & Vaag, J. (2021). School functioning and educational aspiration in adolescents with social anxiety - the Young-HUNT3 study, Norway. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.727529
- Kacem, I., Kahloul, M., El Arem, S., Ayachi, S., Hafsia, M., Maoa, M., Ben Othmane, M., El Maalel, O., Hmida, W., Bouallague, O., Ben Abdessalem, K., MNaijka, W., & Mrizek, N. (2020). Effects of music therapy on occupational stress and burn-out rusk of operating room staff. *The Libyan Journal of Medicine*, *15*(1), 1768024. <u>https://doi-</u>

org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1080/19932820.2020.1768024

Kauffman, J. (2002). Safety and the assumptive world. In J. Kauffman (Ed.), *Loss of the Assumptive World* (pp. 205-211). New York: Brunner-Routledge.

Keenan, M. (2022). Locus of control. Salem Press Encyclopedia of Health.

Kivity, Y., Cohen, L., Weiss, M., Elizur, J., & Huppert, J.D. (2021). The role of expressive suppression and cognitive reappraisal in cognitive behavioral therapy for social anxiety disorder: A study of self-report, subjective, and electrocortical measures. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 279, 334-342. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2020.10.021

- Kobak, R.R., Cole, H.E., Ferenz-Gillies, R., Fleming, W.S., & Gamble, W. (1993).
 Attachments and emotion regulation during mother-teen problem solving: A control theory analysis. *Child development*, 64(1), 231-245.
- Koenig, H.G., Youssef, N.A., Oliver, R.J., Ames, D., Haynes, K., Volk, F., & Teng, E.J. (2018). Religious involvement, anxiety/depression, and PTSD symptoms in US veterans and active-duty military. *Journal of religion and health*, 57(6), 2325-2342.
- Kopp, C.B. (1989). Regulation of distress and negative emotions: A developmental view.*Developmental Psychology*, 25(3), 343-354. doi:10.1037/0012-1649.25.3.343

Kosakova, A., Malinakova, K., van Dijk, J.P., & Tavel, P. (2020). Anxiety and avoidance in adults and childhood trauma are associated with negative religious coping.
 International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 17(14).
 https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.3390/ijerph17145147

Koyuncu, A., İnce, E., Ertekin, E., & Tükel, R. (2019). Comorbidity in social anxiety

disorder: diagnosis and therapeutic challenges. Drugs in context, 8.

- Kraft, J.D., & Grant, D.M. (2021). The effects of self-imagery manipulations on attentional processes within social anxiety. *Psychology & Neuroscience*, 14(2), 226-240. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/pne0000247</u>
- Kroenke, K., Jackson, J.L., & Chamberlain, P.A. (1997). Depressive and anxiety disorders in patients presenting with physical complaints: clinical predictors and outcome. *The American journal of medicine*, 103(5), 339-347.
- Kruk, E. (2019). Spiritual Wounding and Affliction. Critical Social Work, 7(1). <u>https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.22329/csw.v7i1.5775</u>
- Kwan, C.K., & Clift, S. (2018). Exploring the processes of change facilitated by musical activities on mental wellness. *Nordic Journal of Music Therapy*, 27(2), 142-157. <u>https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1080/08098131.2017.1363808</u>
- Lakuta, P. (2018). Social anxiety questionnaire (SAQ): Development and preliminary validation. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 238, 233-243. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2018.05.036</u>
- Landis-Shack, N., Heinz, A.J., & Bonn-Miller, M.O. (2017). Music therapy for posttraumatic stress in adults: A theoretical review. *Psychomusicology: Music Mind, and Brain, 27*(4), 334
- La Danseur, M., Crow, A.D., Stutzman, S.E., Villarreal, M.D., & Olson, D.M. (2019). Music as a therapy to alleviate anxiety during inpatient rehabilitation for stroke. *Rehabilitation Nursing Journal, 44*(1), 29-34.

Lehman, D., & Sherkat, D.E. (2018). Measuring religious identification in the United

States. Journal for the Scientific Study of Religion, 57(4), 779-794.

- Leichsenring, F., & Leweke, F. (2017). Social anxiety disorder. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 376(23), 2255-2264.
- Leventhal, H., Leventhal, E.A., Contrada, R. (1998). Self-regulation, health, and behavior: A perceptual-cognitive approach. *Psychology & Health*, 13(4), 717-733. doi:10.1080/08870449808407425.
- Lewis, J.R., & Bromley, D.G. (1987). The Cult Withdrawal Syndrome: A Case of Misattribution of Cause? *Journal for the Scientific Study of Religion*, 26(4), 508-522. <u>https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.2307/1387101</u>
- Lewis, E.M., Gilroy, S.P., Buckner, J.D., & Heimberg, R.G. (2021). The impact of brief mindfulness training on post event processing among individuals with clinically elevated social anxiety. *Behavior Therapy*, 52(4), 785-796. <u>https://doiorg.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1016/j.beth.2020.10.002</u>
- Lindblad, K., & de Boise, S. (2020). Musical engagement and subjective wellbeing amongst men in the third age. *Nordic Journal of Music Therapy*, 29(1), 20-38. <u>https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1080/08098131.2019.1646791</u>
- Liu, H., & Yuan, K.H. (2021). New measures of effect size in moderation analysis. *Psychological Methods*, 26(6), 680-700. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/met0000371</u>
- Liza, L. & Tz, Y.L. (2016). The impact of music activities in a multi-sensory room for children with multiple disabilities on developing positive emotions: A case study. *Jeten*, 11, 1-12.

Löwenberg, E.B., Aili, F., Serlachius, E., Högström, J., & Kleberg, J.L. (2020). Reduced

left visual field bias for faces in adolescents with social anxiety disorder.

Cognitive neuropsychiatry, 25(6), 421-434. https://doi-

org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1080/13546805.2020.1832456

- Lu, G, Jia, R., Liang, D., Yu, J, We, Z, & Chen, C. (2021). Effects of music therapy on anxiety: A meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Psychiatry Research*, 304. <u>https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2021.114137</u>
- Lufkin, B. (2018). What is the future of English in the US. BBC Worklife.
- Lynch, H., McDonagh, C., & Hennessy, E. (2021). Social anxiety and depression stigma among adolescents. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 281, 744-750.
- Lyons, D. (2017). How many people speak English, and where is it spoken. *Babbel Magazine*.
- Mackinnon, Sp.P. Battista, S.R., Sherry, S.B., & Stewart, S.H. (2014). Perfectionistic self-presentation predicts social anxiety using daily diary methods. *Personality* and Individual Differences, 56, 143-148.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2013.08.038

Magavern, E., Micheluzzi, V., Magnagha, C., Apuzzo, L., & Brioni, E. (2020).
Effectiveness of music to improve anxiety in hemodialysis patients: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Holistic Nursing Practice*, *34*(6), 324-333.

Mandel, S.E., Davis, B.A., & Secic, M. (2019). Patient satisfaction and benefits of music therapy services to manage stress and pain in the hospital emergency department. *Journal of Music Therapy*, 56(2), 149-173. <u>https://doi-</u> org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1093/jmt/thz001 Marks, C.K., Kraft, J.D., Grant, D.M., & Wells, T.T. (2021). The relationship between hostile interpretation bias and symptoms of depression and social anxiety: A replication across two samples. *Journal of Psychopathology and Behavioral Assessment*, 43(2), 251-258. <u>https://doi-</u>

org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1007/s10862-020-09839-y

- Marino, C., Canale, N., Vieno, A., Caselli, G., Scacchi, L., & Spada, M. (2020). Social anxiety and Internet gaming disorder: The role of motives and metacognitions. *Journal of Behavior Addictions*, 9(3), 617-628.
- Maslow, A. (1970. Motivation and Personality (R. Frager & J. Fadiman Eds. Third ed. Vol. 3rd edition). New York: Harper & Row.
- McBeath, A., & Greenlees, P. (2016). Psychological and therapeutic issues associated with membership of high-demand religious groups. *Psychotherapy Section Review*, 58, 71-76.
- McGlade, A.L., Craske, M.G., & Niles, A.N. (2020. Temporal trends in attention disengagement from social threat as a function of social anxiety. *Journal of Behavior Therapy and Experimental Psychiatry*, 68. <u>https://doi-</u> org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1016/j.jbtep.2019.101529
- McGraw, D.M., Ebadi, M., Dalenberg, C., Wu, V., Naish, B., & Nunez, L. (2019).
 Consequences of abuse by religious authorities: A review. *Traumatology*, 25(4), 242.
- Melka, S.E., Lancaster, S.L., Bryant, A.R., & Rodriguez, B.F. (2011). Confirmatory factor and measurement invariance analysis of the emotion regulation

questionnaire. Journal of clinical psychology, 67(12), 1283-1293.

- Meng, T., He, T., Zhang, Q., Yu, F., Zhao, L., Zhang, S., Chen, Z., Wang. S., Gong, J., & Liu, J. (2021). Analysis of features of social anxiety and exploring the relationship between childhood major adverse experiences and social anxiety in early adulthood among Chinese college students. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 614-622. <u>https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1016/j.jad.2021.05.105</u>
- Mirete, M., Molina, S., Villada, C., Hidalgo, V., & Salvador, A. (2021). Subclinical social anxiety in healthy young adults: Cortisol and subjective anxiety in response to acute stress. *Anales de Psicología*, 37(3), 432-439.
- Mosarezaee, M., Tavoli, A. & Montezeri, A. (2020). Psychometric properties of the Persian version of social anxiety questionnaire for adults (SAQ-A30). *Health and Quality of Life Outcomes, 18*(1), 1-7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12955-020-01457-2</u>
- Moss, H. (2019). Music therapy, spirituality and transcendence. *Nordic Journal of Music Therapy*, 28(3), 212-223. <u>https://doi-</u>

org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1080/08098131.2018.1533573

Nelson, B.D., & Jarcho, J.M. (2021). Neural response to monetary and social feedback demonstrates differential associations with depression and social anxiety. *Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience*, 16(10), 1048-1056.

https://doi.org/10.1093/scan/nsab055

Nobakht, H.N., &Yngvar Dale, K. (2018). The importance of religious/ritual abuse as a traumatic predictor of dissociation. *Journal of interpersonal violence, 33*(23), 3575-3588.

- Nolen-Hoeksema, S., & Morrow, J. (1993). Effects of rumination and distraction naturally occurring depressed mood. *Cognition and Emotion*, 7(6), 561-570.
- Novšak, R., Mandelj, T.R., & Simonič, B. (2012). Therapeutic implications of religiousrelated emotional abuse. *Journal of Aggression, Maltreatment & Trauma, 21*(1), 31-44.
- Oakley, L.R., & Kinmond, K.S. (2014). Developing safeguarding policy and practice for spiritual abuse. *The Journal of Adult Protection*.
- Oakley, L., Kinmond, K., & Humphreys, J. (2018). Spiritual abuse in Christian faith settings: definition, policy and practice guidance. *The Journal of Adult Protection*.
- Ochsner, K. & Gross, J.J. (2005). The cognitive control of emotion. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, *9*, 242-249.

O'Connor, C.E. & Fitzgerald, A. (2020). A psychometric evaluation of the Social Anxiety Scale for adolescents in an educational setting. *Journal of Psychoeducational Assessment, 38*(4), 519-528. <u>https://doi-</u> org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1177/0734282918816843

- Ogunwole, S.U., Wroberts, M.A. & Caplan, Z. (2010). US Adult Population Grew Faster Than Nation's Total Population from 2010 to 2020.
- Olivares, J., Sánchez-García, R., & López-Pina, J.A. (2009). The Liebowitz Social Anxiety Scale for Children and Adolescents. *Psicothema*, *21*(3), 486-491.
- Oren-Yagoda, R., Melamud-Ganani, I., & Aderka, I.M. (2021). All by myself: Loneliness in social anxiety disorder. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*. https://doi.org/10.1037/abn0000705.supp

- Oren-Yagoda, R., Schwartz, M., & Aderka, I.M. (2021). The grass is always greener. Envy in social anxiety disorder. *Journal of Anxiety Disorders*, 82, 102445.
- Pallant, J. (2016). SPSS survival manual: A step by step guide to data analysis using IBM SPSS (6th ed.). Routledge.
- Parsons, C.A., Alden, L.E., & Biesanz, J.C. (2021). Influencing emotion: Social anxiety and comparisons on Instagram. *Emotion*, 21(7), 1427-1437. https://doi.org/10.1037/emo0001044.supp (Supplemental)
- Paul, N., Lotter, C., & van Staden, W. (2020). Patient reflections on individual music therapy for a major depressive disorder or acute phase schizophrenia spectrum disorder. *Journal of Music Therapy*, 57(2), 168-192. <u>https://doi-</u> org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1093/jmt/thaa001
- Pearcey, S., Gordon, K., Chakrabarti, B., Dodd, H., Halldorsson, B., & Creswell, C. (2021). Research review: The relationship between social anxiety and social cognition in children and adolescents: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 62(7), 805-821.

https://doi.org/10.1111/jcpp.13310

Perlick, D.A., Sautter, F.J., Becker-Cretu, J.J., Schultz, D., Grier, S.C., Libin, A.V., Schladen, M.M., & Glynn, S.M. (2017). The incorporation of emotion-regulation skills into couple- and family-based treatments for post-traumatic stress disorder. *Military Medical Research*, 4, 21. <u>https://doi-</u> org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1186/s40779-017-0130-9

Ploukou, S., & Panagopoulou, E. (2018). Playing music improves wellbeing of oncology

nurses. Applied Nursing Research, 39, 77-80. https://doi-

org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1016/j.apnr.2017.11.007

- Preece, D.A., Recerra, R., Robinson, K., & Gross, J.J. (2019). The emotion regulation questionnaire: psychometric properties in general community samples. *Journal of personality assessment*.
- Przepiorka, A., Blachnio, A., Cudo, A., & Kot, P. (2021). Social anxiety and social skills via problematic smartphone use for predicting somatic symptoms and academic performance at primary school. *Computers & Education*, 173. <u>https://doiorg.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2021.104286</u>
- Puechlong, C., Weiss, K., Le Vigouroux, S., & Charbonner, E. (2020). Role of personality traits and cognitive emotion regulation strategies in symptoms of posttraumatic stress disorder among flood victims. *International Journal of Disaster Risk Reduction, 50*. <u>https://doi-</u>

org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1016/j.ijdrr.2020.101688

- Pulkkinen, L. (1982). Self-control and continuity from childhood to late adolescence. *Life-span development and behavior*.
- Raine, S., & Kent, S.A. (2019). The grooming of children for sexual abuse in religious settings: Unique characteristics and select case studies. *Aggression and violent behavior*, 48, 180-189.
- Rapee, R.M., Forbes, M.K., Oar, E.L., Richardson, C.E., Johnco, C.J., Magson, N.R., & Fardouly, J. (2020). Testing a concurrent model of social anxiety in preadolescence. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 44(66), 505-

514. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1177/0165025420912014

- Rodriguez, C.M., & Henderson, R.C. (2010). Who spares the rod? Religious orientation, social conformity, and child abuse potential. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *34*(2), 84-94.
- Rohilla, L., Agnihotri, M., Trehan, S.K., Sharma, R.K., & Ghai, S. (2018). Effect of music therapy on pain perception, anxiety, opioid use during dressing change among patients with burns in INdia: a quasi-experimental, cross-over pilot study. *Ostomy Wound Manage*, 64(10), 40-46.
- Rose, G.M., & Tadi, P. (2021). Social anxiety disorder. In *StatPearls [Internet]*. StatPearls Publishing.
- Rösler, L., Göhring, S., Strunz, M., & Gamer, M. (2021). Social anxiety is associated with heart rate but not gaze behavior in a real social interaction. *Journal of Behavior Therapy and Experimental Psychiatry*, 70. <u>https://doiorg.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1016/j.jbtep.2020.101600</u>
- Rothbart, M., Ziaie, H., & O'Boyle, C.G. (1992). Self? regulation and emotion in infancy. *New directions for child and adolescent development* (55), 7-23.
- Rudaizky, D., Rinck, M., Becker, E., & MacLeod, C. (2020). Are avoidance biases in social anxiety due to biases in stimulus coding or in post-coding behavioral tendencies? *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, *132*. <u>https://doiorg.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1016/j.brat.2020.103656</u>
- Sağar, M.E. (2021). Intervention for social anxiety among university students with a solution-focused group counseling program. *International Journal of Progressive Education*, 17(3), 316-326. <u>https://doi.org/10.29329/ijpe.2021.346.20</u>

 Schlumpf, Y.R., Nijenhuis, E.R., Klein, C., Jäncke, L., & Bachmann, S. (2019).
 Functional reorganization of neural networks involved in emotion regulation following trauma therapy for complex trauma disorders. *NeuroImage: Clinical*, 23. <u>https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1016/j.nicl.2019.101807</u>

Schnabel, L. (2018). More religious, less dogmatic: Toward a general framework for gender differences in religion. *Social Science Research*, 75, 58-72. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssresearch.2018.06.010</u>

- Schneider, C.E., Hunter, E.G., & Bardach, S.H. (2019). Potential cognitive benefits from playing music among cognitively intact older adults: A scoping review. *Journal of Applied Gerontology*, 38(12), 1763-1783. <u>https://doiorg.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1177/0733464817751198</u>
- Sharda, M., Tuerk, C., Chowdhury, R., Jamey, K., Foster, N., Custo-Blanch, M., ... & Hyde, K. (2018). Music improves social communication and auditory-motor connectivity in children with autism. *Translational psychiatry*, 8(1), 1-13.
- Shreve-Naiger, A.K., & Edelstein, B.A. (2004). Religion and anxiety: A critical review of the literature. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 24(4), 379-397.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2004.02.003

Sher, K.J. & Grekin, E.R. (2007). Alcohol and affect regulation.

Silverman, M.J. (2021). Music-based emotion regulation and healthy and unhealthy music use predict coping strategies in adults with substance use disorder: A crosssectional study. *Psychology of Music*, 49(3), 333-350. https://doi.org/10.1177/0305735619854529 Siqueira, J. & Villasuso-Lago, A.M. (2012). Coletivo da Música: A study about relations between arts and mental health. *Estudos Interdisciplinares En Psicologia, 3*(1),

93-111. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.5433/2236-6407.2012v3n1p93

Spangenberg, I. (2021). Building blocks of religion: Music, dance, songs and stories. HTS Teologiese Studies/Theological Studies, 77(3), e1-e7.

https://doi.org/10.4102/hts.v77i3.6784

- Stein, D.J., Lim, C.C., Roest, A.M., De Jonge, P., Aguilar-Gaxiola, S., Al-Hamzawi, A., ... & Scott, K.M. (2017). The cross-national epidemiology of social anxiety disorder: Data from the World Mental Health Survey Initiative. *BMC medicine*, *15*(1), 1-21.
- Stevens, J.M., Arzoumanian, M.A., Greenbaum, B., Schwab, B.M., & Dalenberg, C.J. (2019). Relationship of abuse by religious authorities to depression, religiosity, and child physical abuse history in a college sample. *Psychological Trauma: Theory, Research, Practice, and Policy, 11*(3), 292).
- Stone, A.M. (2013). Thou shalt not: Treating religious trauma and spiritual harm with combined therapy. *group*, *37*(4), 323-337.
- Sumakul, V.D., Notobroto, H.B., NiLuh Widani, & Aima, M.H. (2020). Instrumental music therapy reduced depression levels in stroke patients. *Journal of Public Health Research*, 9(2), 215-218.
- Sun, J., & Chen, W. (2015). Music therapy for coma patients: preliminary results. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci, 18(7), 1209-18.

Sun, S., Crooks, N., DiClemente, R.J., & Sales, J.M. (2020). Perceived neighborhood

violence and crime, emotion regulation, and PTSD symptoms among justiceinvolved, urban African-American adolescent girls. *Psychological Trauma, Theory, Research, Practice & Policy,* 593-598.

- Swee, M.B., Hudson, C.C., & Heimberg, R.G. (2021). Examining the relationship between shame and social anxiety disorder: A systematic review. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 90, 102088. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2021.102088</u>
- Takayanagi, Y., Spira, A., Roth, K., Gallo, Eaton, W., & Mojtabai, R. (2014). Accuracy of reports of lifetime mental and physical disorders: results from the Baltimore Epidemiological Catchment Area Study. *JAMA psychiatry*, 71(3), 273-280.
- Tan, P., Lester, L.H., & Lin, A.M. (2020). Music therapy treatments in an inpatient setting - a randomized pilot study. *The Arts in Psychotherapy*, 69. <u>https://doiorg.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1016/j.aip.2020.101660</u>
- Theodorou, M., Konstantinou, N., & Panayiotou, G. (2021). Your face scares me: Effects of perceptual load and social anxiety on processing of threating and neutral faces. *PLoS ONE*, 16(3). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0248733
- Thompson, R.A. (1994). Emotion Regulation: A theme in search of definition. Monographs of the Society for Research in Child Development. 59 (2-3), 25-52.

Tissera, H., Gazzard K.L., Carlson, E.N., & Human, L.J. (2021). Social anxiety and liking: Towards understanding the role of metaperceptions in first impressions. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *121*(4), 948-968. https://doi.org/10.1037/pspp0000363.supp (Supplemental)

Vajpeyee, M., Tiwari, S., Jain, K., Modi, P., Bhandari, P., Monga, G., Yadav, L.B.,

Bhardwaj, H., Shroti, A.K., Singh, S., & Vajpeyee, A. (2021). Yoga and music intervention to reduce depression, anxiety, and stress during COVID-19 outbreak on healthcare workers. *The International Journal of Social Psychiatry*, *68*(4), 798-807.

- Valizadeh, E., Dadkhah, A., & Azkhosh, M. (2021). The effectiveness of cognitivebehavioral music therapy on cognitive emotion regulation in the elderly. *Aging Psychology*, 6(4), 369-382.
- Van Bockstaele, B., Aktar, E., Majdandžić, M., Pérez-Edgar, K., & Bögels, S.M. (2021).
 The relation between early behavioural inhibition and later social anxiety,
 independent of attentional biases to threat. *Cognition & Emotion*, *35*(7), 14311439. https://doi.org/10.1080/02699931.2021.1963682
- Vardy, T., Moya, C., Placek, C.D., Apicella, C.L., Bolyanatz, A., Cohen, E., ... & Atkinson, Q.D. (2022). The religiosity gender gap in 14 diverse societies. *Religion, Brain & Behavior, 12*(1-2), 18-37.
- Veloso Gouveia, V., Magalhães de Moura, H., Vasconcelos de Oliveira, I.C., Costa Ribeiro, M.G., Teixeira Rezende, A., & Rayane de Sampaio Brito, T. (2018).
 Emotional regulation questionnaire (ERQ): Evidence of construct validity and internal consistency. *Psico-USF*, 23(3), 461-471.
- Wake, S., van Reekum, C.M., & Dodd, H. (2021). The effect of social anxiety on the acquisition and extinction of low-cost avoidance. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 146. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2021.103967</u>

Wang, D., Yuan, B., Han, H., & Wang, C. (2020). Validity and reliability of emotion

regulation questionnaire (ERQ) in Chinese rural-to-urban migrant adolescents and young adults. *Current Psychology*, 1-8.

- Ward D.J. (2011). The lived experience of spiritual abuse. *Mental Health, Religion & Culture, 14*(9), 899-915.
- Warner, R.M. (2013). *Applied statistics: From bivariate through multivariate techniques* (2nd ed.). Sage Publications, Inc.
- Watanabe, S., Mitsui, N., Asakura, S., Toyoshima, K., Fujii, Y., Kako, Y., & Kusumi, I., (2021). Predictors of social anxiety disorder with major depressive episodes among Japanese university students. *PLoS ONE*, *16*(9), 1-12. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0257793
- Wegner, D.M., Zanakos, S. (1994). Chronic thought suppression. *Journal of Personality*, 62(4), 615-640.
- Weingarten, S.J., Levy, A.T., & Berghella, V. (2021). The effect of music on anxiety in women undergoing cesarean delivery: a systematic review and meta-analysis.
 American Journal of Obstetrics & Gynecology MFM, 3(5). <u>https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1016/j.ajogmf.2021.100435</u>
- Weishaupt, K., Rafael, S. & Stensland, M.D. (1997). Wifely subjection-mental health issues in Jehovah's Witness women. *Cultic Studies Journal*, *14*(1), 106-144.
- Wells, A., Papageorgiou, C. (1998). Social Phobia: Effects of external attention on anxiety, negative beliefs and perspective taking. *Behavior Therapy*.
- Wentling, B., & Behrens, G.A. (2018). Case study of early childhood trauma using a neurobiological approach to music therapy.

- West, S. (2021). Exploring recreational screen time and social anxiety in adolescents. *Pediatric Nursing*, 47(3), 133-140.
- Williams, M.N., Grajales, C.A., & Kurkiewicz, D. (2013). Assumptions of multiple regression: Correcting two misconceptions. *Practical Assessment, Research, and Evaluation, 18*(1), 11).
- Wilson, W., & Miller, H.L. (1968). Fear, anxiety, and religiousness. *Journal for the Scientific Study of Religion*, 7(1), 111. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/1385119</u>
- Wilt, J.A., Exline, J.J., & Pargament, K.I. (2022). Daily measures of religious/spiritual struggles: Relations to depression, anxiety, satisfaction with life, and meaning. *Psychology of Religion and Spirituality*, 14(3), 312-324.

https://doi.org/10.1037/rel0000399

- Winell, M. (2011). Religious Trauma Syndrome. *Cognitive Behaviour Therapy Today*, *39*(4), 19-21.
- Winell, M. (2016). Religious Trauma Syndrome (article 1), British Association for Behavioural and Cognitive Therapies (BABCP).

http://www.babcp.com/Review/RTS-Its-Time-to-Recognize-it.aspx

- Wong, Q., J., & Heeran, A. (2021). Understanding the dynamic interaction of maladaptive social-evaluative beliefs and social anxiety: A latent change score model approach. *Cognitive Therapy and Research*, 45(6), 1164-1179. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10608-021-10219-3
- World Population Review. Religion by Country 2022, from

https://worldpopulationreview.com/country-rankings/religion-by-country

Xu, X., Sun, B.L., Huang, F., Chia, H.L., Sultana, R. T., & Tuner, B.S. (2021). The impact of music on patient satisfaction, anxiety, and depression in patients undergoing gynecologic surgery. *Journal of PeriAnesthesia Nursing*, *36*(2), 122-127. <u>https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1016/j.jopan.2020.08.014</u>

Yaden, D.B., Eichstaedt, J.C., Kern, M.L., Smith, L.K., Buffone, A., Stillwell, D.J., Kosinski, M., Ungar, L.H., Seligman, M.E., & Schwartz, H.A. (2018). The language of religious affiliation: Social, emotional, and cognitive differences. *Social Psychological and Personality Science*, 9(4), 444-452. https://doi.org/10.1177/1948550617711228

Yilmaz, L., Yazar, R., & Tolan, O. (2021). Prediction of social anxiety in adolescence in the context of parental attitudes and emotion regulation. *International Online Journal of Educational Sciences*, *13*(4), 1198-1217. https://doi.org/10.15345/iojes.2021.04.016

Yuan, J., Zhang, Q., & Cui, L. (2021). Social anxiety is related to impaired ability to filter out irrelevant information but not reduced storage capacity. *Biological Psychology*, 160. <u>https://doi-</u>

org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1016/j.biopsycho.2021.108049

Yu, Y., Liu, S., Song, M., Fan, H., & Zhang, L. (2020). Effect of parent-child attachment on college students' social anxiety: A moderated mediation model. *Psychological Reports*, 123(6), 2196-2214. <u>https://doi-</u>

org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1177/0033294119862981

Zadnik, K. & Smrekar, S. (2020). Recognition of social skills during music activity

among three- and four-year-old children in kindergarten. *Revija Za Elementarno Izobrževanje, 13*(3), 325-346.

- Zelkowitz, R.L., & Cole, D.A. (2016). Measures of emotion reactivity and emotion regulation: Convergent and discriminant validity. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 102, 123-132.
- Zeman, J., Garber, J. (1996). Display rules for anger, sadness and pain: it depends on who is watching. *Child Development*, 67(3), 957-973.
- Zhao, A. (2023). The impact of career expectation on employment anxiety of art students in higher vocational colleges during the COVID-19: A chain mediating role of social support and psychological capital. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 14.
- Zhou, H.L., Jiang, H.B., Zhange, B. & Liang, H.Y. (2021). Social anxiety, maladaptive cognition, mobile phone addiction and perceived social support: A moderated mediation model. *Journal of Psychology in Africa*, 31(3), 248-253.
- Zika, M.A., & Becker, L. (2021). Physical activity as a treatment for social anxiety in clinical and non-clinical populations: A systematic review and three metaanalyses for different study designs. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 15. <u>https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.3389/fnhum.2021.653108</u>

Zimmer-Gembeck, M.J., Gardner, A.A., Hawes, T., Masters, M.R., Waters, A.M., & Farrell, L.J. (2021). Rejection sensitivity and the development of social anxiety symptoms during adolescence: A five-year longitudinal study. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 45(3), 204-215.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0165025421995921

Demographics: (4 Questions)

D.1 What is your age? Responses: 18-25 25-35 35-45 45-65 D.2. What is your gender? Responses Male Female Decline to state D3. What is your marital status? Responses Single Married Divorced Widowed D4. What is your educational level? Responses High school Some college Bachelor's Graduate school or beyond

Appendix B: RSS-14

Over the past two weeks, to what extent have you had each of the experiences

listed below? Response options are as follows: 1 (not at all/does not apply), 2 (a

little bit), 3 (somewhat), 4 (quite a bit), and 5 (a great deal).

Divine

-felt as though God had abandoned me

-felt as though God was punishing me

-felt angry at God

Demonic

-worried that the problems I was facing were the work of the devil or evil spirits

-felt attacked by the devil or by evil spirits

Interpersonal

-felt hurt, mistreated, or offended by religious/spiritual people

-had conflicts with other people about religious/spiritual matters

-felt angry at organized religion

Moral

-wrestled with attempts to follow my moral principles

-felt guilty for not living up to my moral standards

<u>Doubt</u>

-felt troubled by doubts or questions about religion or spirituality

-felt confused about my religious/spiritual beliefs

Ultimate meaning

-questioned whether life really matters

-felt as though my life had no deeper meaning

Appendix C: MUSE Questionnaire

Index of Music Instrument Playing

1. Have you played/do you play a music instrument? (Yes/No)

On a scale ranging from 1(not at all/not applicable) to 5 (always/extremely), rate

the following items:

Music Engagement Style - I (Cognitive and Emotional Regulation)

- 2. I often listen to music when I'm feeling down
- 3. Specific types of music make me feel better
- 4. Music often takes away tension at the end of the day
- 5. I often listen to new compositions
- 6. I use a particular type of music to get me through tough times
- 7. Music is often a source of inspiration for me
- 8. Certain types of music help me think

Music Engagement Style - II (Engaged Production)

- 9. Mastering a piece of music gives me greater recognition as a performer
- 10. I often play challenging pieces
- 11. Practice helps me improve my music playing skills
- 12. Performing music is emotionally rewarding for me
- 13. I often get recognition from my friends for playing in a group
- 14. I often look forward to attending music practices with my friends
- 15. Being able to improve whilst playing music gives me a great sense of satisfaction

- 16. Music performance demonstrates my knowledge of music theory
- 17. I feel good when my performance is applauded

Music Engagement Style- III (Social Connection)

- 18. Having a similar taste in music often helps me relate better to my peers
- 19. I am able to make more friends when we like the same type of music
- 20. There is a greater connection with my friends when we like the same music

Appendix D: SAQ

The following instruction was used: "Here is a list of statements about how an individual may feel or think, and the perceptions of the self an individual may have in social situations. Please read the statements carefully, consider how well each statement relates to you, and indicate your answer, according to the following scale: 1 = Strongly

disagree, 2 = Disagree, 3 = Sometimes disagree, sometimes agree, 4 = Agree, 5 = Strongly agree. There are no "right" or "wrong" answers. Be sure to choose only one answer for each statement".

- 1. I think about myself as ineffectual, socially unattractive person
- 2. I think I'm not interesting enough to be liked by others
- During social situations, I keep thinking about how I look and try to picture how I appear to others
- 4. During social interactions, it is often hard for me to stop thinking about what I have just said and how it sounds others
- 5. In social situations, I avoid eye contact
- 6. I try not to attract attention for fear of being negatively evaluated by other people
- In social situations, I am bothered by various unpleasant feelings and experiences, such as feeling hot, sweating, nervous trembling, palpitations, or difficulty concentrating

- 8. The anxiety which I feel in social situations significantly disrupts my occupational or academic functioning, or social activities or relationships
- 9. Before meeting people I don't know well, I'm worried about what they can thinking of me and how I will be evaluated
- 10. I deliberate over social interactions long after they end and think how I acted and whether I was evaluated negatively by others

Histogram for Social Anxiety







Histogram for Religious Struggles Scores



Normal Q-Q plot for Religious Struggles







Normal Q-Q Plot for Muse.a (playing)







Normal Q-Q Plot for Muse.b (cognitive/emotion regulation)







Normal Q-Q for Muse.c (engaged production)



Histogram for Muse.d (social connection)



Figure E12

Normal Q-Q Plot for Muse.d (social connection)



Histogram for the Regression Standardized Residual



Figure F1

Normal P-P Plot for Dependent Variable



Figure F2



